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The fol lowing amendments  have been made to the F inal  Results  announcement released on 13 December 2024 at 7:00am
under RNS No 9402P.

The ex-dividend and record dates  have been amended. Al l  other detai ls  remain unchanged. The ful l  amended text i s  shown
below.

 
AUDITED RESULTS ANNOUNCEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED

30 SEPTEMBER 2024
 
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
For the year to 30 September 2024

 

Performance
 

Net asset value per Ordinary share (total  return)* 14.95%

Benchmark Index (MSCI ACWI Healthcare Index (total  return in sterl ing with dividends
reinvested))

9.88%

Since restructuring  

Net asset value per Ordinary share (total  return) s ince restructuring *~ 92.62%

Benchmark index total  return s ince restructuring 82.42%

Expenses 2024 2023

Ongoing charges* 0.88% 0.87%

Financials
As at

30 September
2024

As at
30 September

2023 Change %

Total  net assets £479,073,000 £419,182,000 14.29%

Net asset value per Ordinary share 395.05p 345.66p 14.29%

Price per Ordinary share 376.00p 319.00p 17.87%

Discount per Ordinary share* 4.82% 7.71%

Net (cash)/gearing* (0.91%) 9.37%

Ordinary shares  in issue (excluding those
held in treasury)

121,270,000 121,270,000 -

Ordinary shares  held in treasury 2,879,256 2,879,256 -

 
      Dividends

The Company has  paid or declared the fol lowing dividends relating to the financial  year ended 30 September 2024:

Pay date

Amount
per

Ordinary
share

Record Date
Ex-Date Declared Date

First interim: 31 August 2024 1.20p 2 August 2024 1 August 2024 12 July 2024

Second interim: 28 February 2025 1.20p 7 February 2025 6 February 2025 12 December 2024

Total (2023: 2.20p) 2.40p

 
* See Alternative Performance Measures  provided in the Annual  Report.
~ The Company's  por?ol io was  restructured on 20 June 2017. The total  return NAV performance s ince restructuring is
calculated by reinvesting the dividends in the assets  of the Company from the relevant payment date.
 
 

For further information please contact:
Ed Gascoigne-Pees
Camarco
Tele. 020 3757 4984
 

Tracey Lago, FCG
Polar Capital  Global  Healthcare Trust
Plc
Tele. 020 7227 2742

John Regnier-Wi lson
Polar Capital  LLP
Tele. 020 7227 2725
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STATUS OF ANNOUNCEMENT
The figures and financial informa�on contained in this announcement are extracted from the A udited A nnual Report
for the year ended 30 September 2024 and do not cons�tute statutory accounts for the period. The A nnual Report
and Financial Statements include the Report of the Independent A uditors which is unqualified and does not contain a
statement under either section 498(2) or Section 498(3) of the Companies Act 2006.  
 
The A nnual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 30 September 2024 have not yet been delivered to the
Registrar of Companies. The figures and financial informa�on for the period ended 30 September 2023 are extracted
from the published A nnual Report and Financial Statements for the period ended 30 September 2023 and do not
cons�tute the statutory accounts for that year.  The A nnual Report and Financial Statements for the period ended 30
September 2023 have been delivered to the Registrar of Companies and included the Report of the Independent
A uditors which was unqualified and did not contain a statement under either sec�on 498(2) or Sec�on 498(3) of the
Companies Act 2006.
 
The Directors' Remunera�on Report and certain other helpful Shareholder informa�on have not been included in this
announcement but forms part of the A nnual Report which will be available on the Company's website and will be sent
to Shareholders in December 2024.

 
 

CHAIR'S STATEMENT
 
Dear Shareholders

O n behalf of the Board, I  am pleased to provide to you the Company's  Annual  Report for the year ended 30 September
2024.

Performance
I  am del ighted to report that the Company had a very strong twelve months  to 30 September 2024, ending the year 5.07%
ahead of i ts  benchmark (M S C I  AC W I  Healthcare I ndex, Total  Return) and returning a  NAV per share total  return of
14.95%. Despite a  relaDvely difficult year for the investment trust sector in general , the discount narrowed s l ightly
during the year, ending the financial  year at 4.82%.

Considering the chal lenging market backdrop as  a  whole, the Company's  performance during the year under review,
together with i ts  longer term track record over the past three and five year periods, supports  our bel ief in the investment
objective and strategy, as  wel l  as  demonstrating the benefi ts  of an actively managed portfol io.

The outperformance was driven by strong stock selecDon across  the enDre market-capital isaDon range, parDcularly in
biotechnology and pharmaceuDcals . For the second year in a  row, Zealand P harma was the highest contributor to
overal l  performance aIribuDon, as  investor appeDte for companies  with exposure to the so-cal led weight loss  drugs,
and the potentia l  they offer, continued.

Further detai l  i s  provided within the Manager's  Report.

Outlook
We conDnue to bel ieve the fundamentals  for healthcare remain very strong. As  we highl ighted last year, innovaDon
drives  the future growth potenDal  of companies , but pressure on healthcare costs  to fund new products  and iniDaDves
means that access  and affordabi l i ty are increas ingly criDcal  i f the innovaDon is  to flow through into earnings  growth.
This  i s  a  theme our managers  bel ieve wi l l  be a  driver for the next twelve months, together with conDnued excitement
over the potenDal  appl icaDons of technology, especial ly in ArDficial  I ntel l igence and also for opportuniDes  in emerging
markets , particularly China, which could benefi t from increased economic stimulus.

The performance of the healthcare benchmark, whi lst del ivering pos iDve absolute returns, has  lagged the broader
market in the last year. The healthcare sector is  del ivering high levels  of innovaDon and has  cons istently shown the
abi l i ty to yield strong revenue and earnings  growth, regardless  of the economic, pol iDcal  and regulatory environment.
We remain very exci ted about the future prospects  for healthcare and the abi l i ty to del iver superior returns  for our
shareholders .

Further detai l  i s  provided in the Manager's  Report.

Dividends
The Company's  focus  conDnues to remain on capital  growth and consequently dividends are expected to represent a
relaDvely smal l  part of shareholders ' total  return. The Company has  a  pol icy to pay two smal l  dividends per year, but i t
i s  recognised that these wi l l  not necessari ly be of equal  amounts  and may be reduced.

I n August 2024 the Company paid an interim dividend of 1.20p per ordinary share. The Board has  declared a further
interim dividend of 1.20p per ordinary share payable to shareholders  on the register as  at 7 February 2025. This  wi l l
bring the total  dividend paid for the financial  year under review to 2.40p per ordinary share, a  9% increase compared to
the previous  financial  year.

Share Capital
The Company has  121,270,000 ordinary shares  in issue as  at the date of wriDng and no shares  have been bought back
or issued during the financial  year under review. The Company's  share price on 30 September 2024 was 376.00p (2023:
319.00p). The Company's  market capital isaDon at the financial  year end was £456.0m (2023: £386.9m). The Board has
reconfirmed the authori ty given to the Manager to use discreDon to purchase shares  in the market when deemed
appropriate to do so.

Liquidation of Subsidiary Undertaking
As previous ly reported and announced, the Company's  whol ly owned subs idiary, P CGH ZD P  P lc was  incorporated with a
l imited l i fe of seven years . The purpose of the subs idiary was  to issue zero dividend preference ("ZD P ") shares , the
proceeds from which formed a loan to the parent in the form of structural  gearing. This  loan was repaid, and the
subsidiary was  l iquidated on 19 June 2024 in accordance with the ArDcles  of AssociaDon. Fol lowing repayment of the
loan provided by the subs idiary, the Company's  por?ol io remains  ungeared. The Company currently has  no intenDon of
seeking al ternaDve forms of short-term gearing but wi l l  keep this  decis ion under review in conjuncDon with any
proposed corporate action.

The Board
There were no changes  to the membership of the Board during the year under review, but shortly fol lowing the year end,
Andrew Fleming stepped down from the Board. O n behalf of the remaining Directors , we thank Andrew for his  efforts ,
guidance and valuable input over the past five years .

I n last year's  Annual  Report & Accounts  we highl ighted we had taken on Ei -Lene Heng as  our first Board ApprenDce. The
Board ApprenDce programme is  an iniDaDve des igned to develop aspiring board members  and boost divers i ty in
boardrooms. We are pleased to confirm that Ei -Lene Heng has  been invited to, and has  accepted, the conDnuaDon of her
apprenDceship with the Board through the next 12 to 15 months, which would include any corporate acDon associated



apprenDceship with the Board through the next 12 to 15 months, which would include any corporate acDon associated
with an extens ion of the Company's  l i fe. We feel  that this  wi l l  give Ei -Lene relevant and valuable experience to take into
any future non-executive director (NED) role.

As  referenced in my statement to Shareholders  last year, the Board is  aware of the FC A's  Divers i ty and I nclus ion Pol icy
and notes  that i ts  current composiDon does  not meet the recommended gender or ethnici ty requirements . Given the
Company's  fixed l i fe and any potenDal  corporate reorganisaDon in 2025-26, the Board (via  the NominaDon CommiIee)
has  concluded that the appropriate Dme for recruitment would be shortly before or aPer any reconstrucDon plans. We
have engaged with some of our major shareholders  via  our Company Secretary and they are understanding of this
Dmeframe. I t i s  a  priori ty of the Board to be able to meet a l l  aspects  of the FC A's  Divers i ty pol icy as  part of any future
success ion plans. At the appropriate Dme, the Board wi l l  ensure that divers i ty i s  cons idered throughout any recruitment
process , especial ly when compi l ing a  shortl i s t of candidates  and selecting individuals  for interview.

The Directors ' biographical  detai ls  are avai lable on the Company's  website and are provided in the Annual  Report.

Cost Disclosure
The Board notes  the recent announcement from the government and Financial  Conduct Authori ty ("FC A") to reform UK
retai l  disclosure rules . This  announcement a lso included a forbearance statement to temporari ly exempt investment
companies  from P R I I Ps  and the cost disclosure aspects  of Mi F I D. The Board has  engaged with the Manager to
understand the impl icaDons and explore any changes  that could be appl ied to take advantage of the exempDon. The ful l
rules  and revised regulations  are expected to be publ ished and come into force in mid-late 2025.

Life
The Board has  started cons idering the future of the Company in l ight of i ts  fixed-l i fe and has  commenced work with i ts
advisors  on developing and potenDal ly bringing forward proposals  for a  corporate reorganisaDon in 2025. This  would
be ahead of the requirement to propose l iquidaDon at the first AGM to be held aPer 1 March 2025 which would
ordinari ly take place in early 2026. As  part of these cons ideraDons, the Board notes  that should any performance fee be
payable to the I nvestment Manager, i t wi l l  crystal l i se on 1 March 2025, as  envisaged at the Dme of the previous
reorganisation in 2017.This  crystal l i sation, in advance of the l ikely effective date for any reorganisation proposals , wi l l
provide shareholders  with the opportunity to assess  their returns  in advance of any proposals  being cons idered. No
performance fee has  been accrued as  at 30 September 2024 (2023: ni l ) or at the time of writing.
 
Annual General Meeting
The  Compa ny's  Annua l  Ge ne ra l  Me e Dng ("AGM") wi l l  be  he l d a t 16 Pa l a ce  Stre e t, London, SW1E 5JD a t 2:00pm on
Thurs da y, 13 Fe brua ry 2025. The  noDce  of AGM ha s  be e n provi de d to Sha re hol de rs  a nd wi l l  a l s o be  a va i l a bl e  on the
Compa ny's  we bs i te . De ta i l e d e xpl a na Dons  of the  forma l  bus i ne s s  a nd the  re s ol uDons  to be  propos e d a t the  AGM a re
conta i ne d wi thi n the  Sha re hol de r Informa Don i n the  NoDce  of AGM. We  wi l l  once  a ga i n upl oa d a  copy of the  Ma na ge r's
Inve s tme nt Pre s e nta Don (on or be fore  30 Ja nua ry 2025) to the  Compa ny's  we bs i te  a he a d of the  AGM to a l l ow broa de r
a cce s s , a nd a s  a  re s ul t wi l l  onl y hol d the  forma l  bus i ne s s  me e Dng i n pe rs on. The  Ma na ge rs  wi l l  be  a va i l a bl e  a t the
AGM to a ns we r que s ti ons  a nd me e t s ha re hol de rs  pre s e nt.

 
We  ha ve  provi de d a  zoom l i nk i n the  NoDce  of AGM whi ch wi l l  e na bl e  a nyone  i nte re s te d to vi e w the  forma l  bus i ne s s
a nd a s k que s Dons  vi a  the  on-l i ne  cha t funcDon. Al l  forma l  bus i ne s s  re s ol uDons  wi l l  be  vote d on by a  pol l  a nd we
the re fore  e ncoura ge  s ha re hol de rs  to s ubmi t the i r vote s  a he a d of the  me e Dng by proxy ca rd whi ch i s  provi de d wi th the
Noti ce  of Me e ti ng.

 
Lisa Arnold
Cha i r

12 December 2024
 
 
INVESTMENT MANAGER'S REPORT - FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2024
 
O ver the financial  year to 30 September 2024, the Company del ivered a Net Asset Value (NAV) per share total  return of
14.95%, a  5.07% outperformance of i ts  benchmark, the M S C I  Al l  Country World Dai ly Net Total  Return Health Care I ndex.
The absolute performance of the healthcare sector was  pos iDve, up 9.88% over the reporDng period, a l though i t
underperformed the broader market, as  tracked by the M S C I  Al l  Country World Net Total  Return I ndex, which was up
19.9% (al l  figures  above are in sterl ing terms).
 
The Company's  divers i fication strategy, coupled with i ts  focus  on large capital isation1 (cap) healthcare companies  with
robust, medium-term growth outlooks, helps  drive the pos iDve risk/return profile of the underlying assets , relaDve to
the more volaDle areas  of healthcare. Further, the broad investment remit affords  the opportunity to invest in growth
areas  regardless  of the economic, pol i tical  and regulatory environment.
 
I mportantly, the Company can also invest in earl ier-stage, more innovaDve and disrupDve companies  that tend to be
lower down the market-cap and l iquidity scales . This  i s  a  key advantage of the Company's  closed-ended structure.
Regardless  of s ize, subsector or geography, stock selecDon is  central  to the investment process  as  we look to idenDfy
companies  where there is  a  disconnect between valuations  and the near and medium-term growth drivers .
 
Market Capitalisation
 
Market Cap at 30 September 2024 30 September 2023
Mega Cap (> US 100bn) 37.5% 34.5%

Large Cap (US 10bn - US 100bn) 38.7% 46.0%

Mid Cap (US 5bn - US 10bn) 15.3% 14.5%

Smal l  Cap (< US 5bn) 7.5% 14.3%

Other net assets/(l iabi l i ties)* 1.0% (9.3)%

Total 100.0% 100.0%
Source: Polar Capital.            
* Please note the change in other net assets/ (liabilities) was primarily driven by the repayment of the ZDP shares.

 
I n terms of structure, the majori ty of the Company's  assets  (calculated on a gross  bas is  and referred to as  the Growth
por?ol io) wi l l  be invested in companies  with a  market cap > 5bn at the Dme of investment, with the balance invested in
companies  with a  market cap < 5bn (a  maximum of 20% of gross  assets  and referred to as  the Innovation portfol io).
 
At the end of the reporDng period, 31 companies  in the por?ol io were in the Growth por?ol io (91.5% of net assets) and 6
were in the Innovation portfol io (7.5%).
 
Fol lowing a s luggish start, global  equity markets  posted pos iDve gains  throughout most of the Company's  financial
year. The main trend that characterised the period was a  s ignificant rotaDon into some of the more economical ly



year. The main trend that characterised the period was a  s ignificant rotaDon into some of the more economical ly
sens iDve areas  of the market such as  informaDon technology and communicaDon services . The laIer was  further
boosted by investors ' increased appeti te towards  companies  exposed to arti ficia l  intel l igence (AI).
 
The risk-on environment of the first nine months  of the year a lso reflected a more benign macroeconomic picture than
iniDal ly feared, with fa l l ing inflaDon, res i l ient growth prospects  and improving supply chain dynamics . The three
months  to the end of September suggested a s lower economic environment which boosted more defens ive stocks ,
a l though most of those relaDve gains  evaporated with the surprise 50 bas is  point (bp 2) cut from the Federal  Reserve
(Fed) in September and fresh stimulus  from China.
 
ReflecDng on the Company's  overal l  pos iDve performance, there was strong stock selecDon across  the enDre spectrum,
parDal ly offset by negaDve al locaDon, with the Company's  above-benchmark exposure to smal l  and mid-cap stocks  the
biggest drag on performance. W ithin the benchmark, healthcare faci l iDes , healthcare equipment and
biopharmaceuDcals  (biotechnology and pharmaceuDcals  companies) were especial ly strong, reflecDng an acceleraDon
in uti l i sation and consumption for the fi rst two subsectors  and the start of new product cycles  for biopharmaceuticals .
 
However, the past 12 months  have been more chal lenging for the healthcare services , managed healthcare and
healthcare suppl ies  subsectors . The healthcare services  and managed health care subsectors  both struggled due to the
fear of elevated medical  costs , driven by increased uDl isaDon and paDent volumes. The sub-par performance for the
suppl ies  subsector is  more a reflecDon of a  cauDous consumer given i ts  index is  heavi ly populated with dental  and
ophthalmology companies .
 
As  set out in last year's  annual  report, the focus  was  very much on three key investment themes:
 
·      Innovation: Recent history has  witnessed a number of highly s ignificant medical  breakthroughs in a  broad range

of therapeutic categories .
 

·      AI and Machine Learning (ML): Advancements  in M L algori thms, greater access  to data and the avai labi l i ty of more
powerful  mobi le networks  could materia l ly accelerate the pace of change in the healthcare industry.
 

·      Emerging markets: APer a  chal lenging period, especial ly in China, emerging markets  should be a source of growth
driven by an ever-increas ing demand for healthcare products  and services .

 
The themes summarised above wi l l  conDnue to be relevant as  we look forward to the next financial  year, especial ly as
reimbursement and access  improves  for products  and technologies  that address  unmet medical  needs, generate
efficiencies  and improve patient outcomes.
 
We explore these themes in more detai l  below, in the 'Healthcare: Fundamentals  remain strong' section.
 
O ver the financial  year to the end of September 2024, the Company outperformed i ts  benchmark by 5.07%, achieving a
posiDve return on net assets  of 14.95%. This  strong performance is  parDcularly notable given the chal lenging
environment, where the healthcare sector notably underperformed the broader market. I n dol lar terms, global  equity
markets  put a  chal lenging Q 3 2023 behind them and entered a sustained ral ly for the rest of the financial  year, a  ra l ly
that was  only interrupted by brief periods  of weakness  in Apri l  and from mid-July to early August.
 
As  referred to above, the pos iDve performance of the general  equity market was  largely driven by sectors  directly or
indirectly l inked to the AI  theme, such as  informaDon technology, communicaDon services  and uDl iDes. I n contrast,
more defens ive sectors  lagged for the year as  the macroeconomic picture turned more upbeat than the markets  iniDal ly
expected.
 
From a subsector perspecDve, biotechnology and pharmaceuDcals  were the best performers  for the Company, bolstered
by effecDve stock selecDon and pos iDve al locaDon. Managed healthcare a lso made a pos iDve contribuDon, with
al locaDon being a  more s ignificant factor than selecDon. However, s tock-picking in healthcare equipment, suppl ies  and
faci l iDes  was  less  successful , becoming the main detractor from performance, even though al locaDon in these areas
was favourable.
 
From a market-cap point of view, stock selecDon was pos iDve across  the enDre market capital isaDon spectrum. For
mega-cap investments , where the Company was underweight compared to the benchmark, the al locaDon had a negaDve
impact, but stock-picking was notably strong. Large and mid-cap companies  contributed pos iDvely, driven enDrely by
effecDve stock selecDon. Meanwhi le, in smal l -cap stocks  - where the Company was more exposed than the benchmark -
stock selection was robust, but i t was  not enough to counteract the negative a l location effect.
 
O n a geographical  bas is , Europe and North America contributed pos iDvely, with the former having good al locaDon and
selecDon whi le the laIer benefiIed from good selecDon and favourable currency movements . Al locaDon to As ia  Pacific
ex-Japan stocks  was  negaDve, whi le selecDon was only marginal ly pos iDve. The biggest detractor was  Japan, enDrely
due to stock selection.
 
The acDve management of gearing had a marginal ly pos iDve contribuDon to performance aPer accounDng for foreign
exchange moves.
 
Top 10 Relative Contributors (%)
 
 
Top 10

Average
Stock

Weight

Active
Weight

Stock
Return

Stock
Return
vs BM

Total
Attribution

Zealand Pharma A/S 4.70 4.69 155.24 145.36 5.80

UCB 2.37 2.17 100.51 90.63 2.02

UnitedHealth Group 3.99 -2.22 5.55 -4.33 1.06

Swedish Orphan
Biovitrum

3.14 3.08 43.48 33.60 1.06

Intuitive Surgical 3.58 1.86 52.99 43.11 0.71

Pfizer 0.00 -2.08 -20.58 -30.47 0.69

Sanofi 1.98 0.53 -2.68 -12.57 0.66

Amgen 1.01 -1.01 9.13 -0.76 0.57



Amgen 1.01 -1.01 9.13 -0.76 0.57

Johnson & Johnson 0.33 -4.45 -5.29 -15.17 0.54

Global  Health/India 0.91 0.91 28.81 18.93 0.54

Source: Polar Capital; September 2024

 
Zealand Pharma i s  a  Danish biotechnology company focused on developing drugs  for metabol ic and gastrointesDnal
diseases. During the period, the company reported encouraging cl inical  data for key assets , with pretel inDde, a  novel
weight-loss  medication, garnering the most attention from the investment community as  i t demonstrated not only robust
efficacy but a lso a  relaDvely benign safety profile and good tolerabi l i ty. O veral l , the stock's  strong performance
reflected the conDnued enthus iasm that surrounds obes ity assets  and their potenDal  to address  a  s ignificant, unmet
medical  need.
 
Belgian pharmaceuDcal  company UCB saw i ts  stock price more than double in the past 12 months  thanks  to the
impress ive launch of psorias is  drug Bimzelx in the US. There was a lso increased appreciaDon of the drug's  wider
opportuniDes  in other autoimmune condiDons such as  hidradeniDs  suppuraDva (a  very painful  skin disease with
l imited therapeuDc opDons), and for UC B's  other commercial ised assets  in epi lepsy, osteoporos is  and general ised
myasthenia gravis  (a  rare, chronic condition that causes  muscle weakness).
 
Cons istent with a  view that the US healthcare systems would conDnue to experience elevated levels  of uDl isaDon, the
Company did not hold a  pos iDon in UnitedHealth Group, the largest provider of healthcare insurance in the US, for the
first five months  of the fiscal  year. During the period, the stock came under pressure as  higher medical  costs  dented the
company's  earning power. However, we took a pos iDon in UnitedHealth Group in March, taking the view that the
healthcare insurer would be able to price i ts  plans  appropriately to offset the higher medical  expenses  and return to
more predictable earnings  growth. This  thes is  played out and the stock rebounded through the second hal f of the fiscal
year.
 
Swedish O rphan Biovitrum ("SO BI"), a  biotechnology company based in Sweden, performed wel l  thanks  to good
execuDon, pos iDve cl inical  data for some of i ts  assets  and strong demand for Beyfortus , a  prophylacDc therapy against
respiratory syncyDal  vi rus  (a  seasonal  vi rus  mainly affecDng babies  and elderly individuals). For context, Beyfortus  is
commercial ised in the US by Sanofi  which pays  SOBI a  tiered royalty in the 25-35% range.
 
IntuiCve Surgical, a  leading protagonist in the field of soP- Dssue surgical  robots , experienced strong returns  as  the
stock inflected with the company's  approval  and subsequent launch of i ts  new robot, the Da Vinci  5. The iniDal  launch of
this  new robot surpassed even the more opDmisDc expectaDons as  the latest product has  numerous advantages  over
the previous  vers ion (such as  hapDc feedback) and represents  a  leap forward in technology. Such innovaDon should
continue to drive convers ion of open surgery and laparoscopic surgery toward robotic approaches  and poss ibly expand
the use of robotic surgery beyond the existing procedure types.
 
Bottom 10 Relative Contributors (%)

 
 
Bottom 10

Average
Stock

Weight

Active
Weight

Stock
Return

Stock
Return
vs BM

Total
Attribution

Novo Nordisk
A/S

1.03 -3.97 17.31 7.43 -1.25

DexCom 2.57 2.02 -34.60 -44.48 -1.08

Legend Biotech
Corp

1.13 1.08 -33.96 -43.85 -0.97

Acadia
Healthcare

2.25 2.25 -17.91 -27.79 -0.86

Al ign
Technology

0.66 0.42 -24.18 -34.06 -0.81

Bio-Rad
Laboratories

1.55 1.47 -15.04 -24.92 -0.69

Penumbra 1.01 1.01 -26.89 -36.77 -0.67

Becton
Dickinson

2.58 1.69 -15.11 -25.00 -0.67

R1 RCM 0.35 0.35 -14.41 -24.30 -0.67

Bruker 0.89 0.89 0.90 -8.98 -0.65

Source: Polar Capital; September 2024

 
W hilst i t did have pos iDve exposure during the period under review to the so cal led 'weight loss  drugs ', the Company
lacked exposure for most of the period to N ovo N ordisk, a  Danish pharmaceuDcal  bus iness  focused on metabol ic
diseases  and, more specifical ly, obes ity. As  menDoned earl ier, investors ' appreciaDon for the market opportunity for
Novo Nordisk's  weight-loss  drug Wegovy (a  so-cal led glucagon-l ike pepDde-1 receptor agonist, or GLP 1 for short) and
s imi lar assets  conDnued unabated on the back of good commercial  success , despite supply of the drug sDl l  being a
constraint, and compel l ing new cl inical  results  of the benefi ts  of GLP1s  beyond weight loss .
 
DexCom , a  US company special is ing in conDnuous glucose monitoring (CGM) for the management of diabetes , s tarted
the fiscal  year strongly, recovering from the fears  the novel  GLP 1 drugs  could s ignificantly s low down the funnel  of i ts
paDents  with type-2 diabetes. However, the stock had a precipitous  fa l l  when the company announced a weak set of
financial  results  for Q 2 2024 coupled with a  materia l  cut to i ts  outlook. The driver behind the reset was  a  poorly
executed salesforce restructure which led to both lost patients  and a decl ine in i ts  revenue per patient.
 
L egend Biotech's main asset i s  CarvykD, a  drug co-owned with Johnson & Johnson for the treatment of a  type of bone
marrow cancer cal led mulDple myeloma. The company experienced manufacturing constraints  which meant sales  for
CarvykD disappointed for a  couple of quarters . AddiDonal ly, the compeDDve landscape intens ified as  Bristol  Myers
Squibb received approval  for i ts  cel l  therapy drug for mulDple myeloma as  wel l  as  pos iDve cl inical  data from other,
earl ier- s tage assets  emerging.
 
Behavioural  health provider Acadia Healthcare had a turbulent past 12 months. Despite relaDvely sol id execuDon in a
chal lenging environment, the company came under s igni ficant pressure for legal  and regulatory reasons. Fi rst, concerns
arose regarding a  proposed change in how opioid addicDon treatments  are administered in the US, which could have
adversely impacted Acadia's  medicaDon-ass isted treatment bus iness . Second, the company is  embroi led in various
lawsuits  and received subpoenas  related to i ts  admiss ions  pracDces, lengths  of stay and bi l l ing. These legal



lawsuits  and received subpoenas  related to i ts  admiss ions  pracDces, lengths  of stay and bi l l ing. These legal
proceedings  could mean the company is  l iable to pay substantia l  damages.
 
As  a  leader in dental  a l igners , Align Technology offers  a  less  invas ive and more discrete a l ternaDve to tradiDonal  teeth-
straightening methods. W hen we iniDated a pos iDon in the stock, we took a view that consumers  around the world were
in a  healthier economic shape than most esDmated and that the demand for clear a l igners , which are oPen cons idered
discreDonary purchases, would start to rebound aPer a  period of decl ine. Albeit sa les  did experience some growth in
the first hal f of the 2024 calendar year, the company mismanaged i ts  forward-looking guidance by rais ing i ts  outlook in
the first quarter but cuWng i t in the second, which understandably frustrated the markets . AddiDonal ly, data around
consumer senDment and i ts  spending abi l i ty worsened, driving down expectaDons of a  ful l  recovery of the clear a l igner
market.
 
Healthcare: Fundamentals remain strong.
 
The 2023 Annual  Report focused on three key themes we bel ieved were accelerating:
 
·      Innovation: Recent history has  witnessed a number of highly s ignificant medical  breakthroughs in a  broad range

of therapeutic categories .
·      A I and ML : Advancements  in M L algori thms, greater access  to data and the avai labi l i ty of more powerful  mobi le

networks  could materia l ly accelerate the pace of change in the healthcare industry.
·      Emerging markets: APer a  chal lenging period, especial ly in China, emerging markets  should be a source of growth

driven by an ever-increas ing demand for healthcare products  and services .
 

We conDnue to bel ieve the above themes wi l l  be important for some Dme, especial ly for the l i feblood of the industry
which is  innovaDon, though access  and affordabi l i ty are a lso essenDal  for commercial  success  and societal  wel lbeing.
W ith that in mind, and thinking about the year ahead, we bel ieve the fol lowing investment themes wi l l  be the most
important:
 
·     Access and affordability: Low-cost, high-qual i ty medicines  a l low expanded access , with a  new wave of bios imi lars3

set to del iver much needed savings.
·   Reimbursement of A I/ML -enabled technologies: I nvestment and innovaDon is  acceleraDng; the next steps  are

broader reimbursement and wider uti l i sation.
·      China: After a  chal lenging period, China should now be a recovery story driven by s igni ficant government stimul i .
 
Access and affordability: Critical for medical and financial health
Generic drugs  and bios imi lars  account for c90% of a l l  US prescripDons but represent only 13% of spending, offering
clear evidence of the value that low-cost, high- qual i ty medicines  bring to patients , healthcare systems and government
budgets  a l ike. As  such, i t i s  imperaDve that regulators  and manufacturers  conDnue to work together to ensure long-
term sustainabi l i ty for the generics  and bios imi lars  industry.

Smal l  molecule generics  have been an important driver of cost savings  in the world of off-patent pharmaceuDcals  for
decades, but i t i s  the adopDon of bios imi lars  that i s  real ly starDng to accelerate and could lead to the next wave of
savings. To be clear, the concept of bios imi lars  i s  far from new given there have been 61 approvals  and 42 launches  in
the US as  at September 2024 and there have been 106 bios imi lars  approved in Europe. Focus ing first on the US market,
s ince 2015 bios imi lars  have generated 36bn in savings  but there appears  to be a shiP in the healthcare system that is
real ly starDng to accelerate the penetraDon of bios imi lars , a  change that could take the bios imi lar market north of
100bn towards  the end of the decade.

Back in January 2024, C VS Caremark, which is  the P harmacy Benefit Manager (P BM) within health soluDons company
C VS Health, announced i t wi l l  remove branded Humira (a  biologic for the treatment of a  number of autoimmune
disorders  that generated sales  in excess  of 20bn at their peak) from i ts  major naDonal  commercial  formularies  and
wi l l  only cover bios imi lar Humira instead. This  decis ion should help accelerate the adopDon of bios imi lar Humira
given the s ignificantly lower l i s t price i t offers  i ts  members . As  a  reminder, commercial  formularies  are the drug l i s ts
used by employers , unions  and health plans  for prescripDon drug coverage. As  others  fol low suit, US consumers  wi l l
s tart to benefi t from materia l ly lower prices  without compromis ing their qual i ty of care.

Switching gears  to Europe, there is  a  school  of thought that would argue the bios imi lar market is  s l ightly more
advanced given earl ier adopDon and greater levels  of cumulaDve savings  of €50bn s ince 2012. More importantly, with
more than 100 biologic medicines  anDcipated to lose patent protecDon by the end of 2032, the opportunity to generate
further, much needed savings  is  hugely s ignificant. I n terms of investment opportuniDes, the primary beneficiaries  are
the companies  involved in the manufacture and distribuDon of bios imi lars , with the second derivaDve beneficiaries
being the l i fe sciences  tools  and services  companies  that provide the equipment and reagents  used during the qual i ty
control  and manufacturing processes.

Relevant Company investments  include Avantor, Bruker, Fresenius  SE, Lonza Group and Sandoz Group.

Reimbursement of AI/ML-enabled technologies: Critical to broader utilisation.
I n last year's  annual  report, we touched on the idea that AI  and M L can be used to make healthcare more producDve.
O n the services  s ide, key areas  highl ighted included the abi l i ty to automate coding and bi l l ing in hospitals , improving
the efficiency revenue cycle management and helping prevent fraud. DiagnosDcs  is  a lso an area where AI  and M L are
starting to make a di fference, especial ly in colonoscopy and ultrasound.

Can an AI  overly improve accuracy and, potenDal ly, improve paDent outcomes? There is  plenty of evidence to show the
early detecDon of diseases, especial ly cancer, can drive beIer outcomes for paDents . Take breast cancer, for example,
where i f the cancer is  detected in stage one, i .e. i t i s  local ised, the five-year survival  rate is  99%. The Enhanced Breast
Cancer DetecDon (EBC D) program in the US is  a  breakthrough in early detecDon. I t uses  AI  to help radiologists  detect
even subtle les ions  and combined with high-qual i ty mammography systems, EBC D's  AI  overlay opDmises  breast cancer
screening, giving women greater confidence in their results . Unfortunately, despite what appears  to be a s ignificant
medical  advance, US insurance is  yet to cover the costs , with EBCD carrying a  40 patient out-of-pocket co-pay.

The technology and abi l i ty to innovate is  clearly there, as  evidenced by the fact that the US Food and Drug
AdministraDon has  approved 950 AI /M L-enabled medical  devices  to date. The next chal lenge for the industry is  to
del iver cons istent results  across  a  wide range of cl inical  environments  and paDent populaDons, to demonstrate a
deeper understanding of the cl inical  benefits  versus  convenDonal  screening methods and to obtain broad-based
reimbursement, which wi l l  ul timately lead to wider adoption and commercial  success .

Relevant Company investments  include Intel l igent Ultrasound Group and Intuitive Surgical .

China: Are things starting to turn?

The l iPing of the Covid lockdowns was the catalyst for a  strong rebound in economic acDvity in China in early 2023.
However, growth stal led, with fa l l ing consumer spending, a  real  estate cris is  and s lumping exports  a l l  contribuDng



However, growth stal led, with fa l l ing consumer spending, a  real  estate cris is  and s lumping exports  a l l  contribuDng
factors . This  macro s lowdown adversely affected a number of

industries , including the l i fe sciences  tools  and services  sector. There were also healthcare-specific chal lenges  that
have been weighing on the sector in recent months, primari ly an anD-corrupDon campaign that led to a  decrease in
activi ty within the healthcare ecosystem.

W ith the anD-corrupDon campaign starDng to move into the rearview mirror, aIenDon can now turn to the potenDal
impl icaDons of economic sDmulus  plans. StarDng in March 2024, the Chinese authoriDes  announced a series  of
iniDaDves  that could have pos iDve, long-term impl icaDons for the healthcare industry. W hi le not exhausDve, and
covering a  broad range of industries  bes ides  healthcare, the updates  include plans  to upgrade and renew equipment
plus  a  500bn yuan relending programme which wi l l  go towards  China's  science and technology industries . Further,
late in September, Bei j ing held a  pol i tburo meeDng with many taking the view that there is  now a greater sense of
urgency to deal  with the country's  economic chal lenges. W ith an expl ici t target of stopping the property market
decl ine, there is  a lso a  commitment to cuWng interest rates  and address ing fiscal  pol icy. Al l  these offer
encouragement that there is  a  greater sense of urgency to address  China's  deflationary environment.

Several  healthcare subsectors  could benefit from a recovery in China's  economic fortunes, including medical
equipment and suppl ies , pharmaceuDcals  and the l i fe sciences  tools  and services  industry. APer a  prolonged period of
soPness , driven by cauDous spending and industry-wide destocking, i t i s  perhaps  the l i fe sciences  tools  and services
subsector that appears  the most l ikely to enjoy a  pos iDve inflecDon. More specifical ly, the bioprocess ing industry has
been under pressure due to conservaDve spending and industry-s ide destocking. P ubl ic commentary by industry C EO s,
however, appears  to be turning more pos iDve with specific references  to increased annual  budgets  for science and
technology and long-term investments  in instrumentaDon equipment, technological  advances  and advanced research.
Predicting the precise timing of a  potentia l  inflection is  chal lenging, though there is  high conviction that the region wi l l
continue to be an important source of long-term growth for the healthcare industry.

Relevant Company investments  include Avantor and Bruker.

US politics: What does a Republican trifecta mean for healthcare?
I n early November i t was  confirmed that Donald Trump wi l l  be the next US P res ident. W ith the Republ icans  retaining
control  of the House of RepresentaDves  and also flipping the Senate from being DemocraDc, the tri fecta is  complete.
Heading into the elecDon, there was a  school  of thought that healthcare was not a  key priori ty for the Republ icans,
with the focus  more l ikely to be on the economy, taxes, immigraDon and the cl imate. This  may yet turn out to be the
case, but when Trump announced that Robert F  Kennedy, Jr ("R F K  Jr.") i s  his  nominee to run the Department of Health
and Human Services  (H H S), he introduced a greater level  of uncertainty for healthcare investors  given some of R F K  Jr's
publ ic comments  on vaccines, especial ly COVI D-19 vaccines fluoride in water and the associaDon between H I V and
AI D S. Ahead of R F K  Jr's  potenDal  confirmaDon, far from guaranteed given the controversy surrounding the nominaDon,
i t i s  maybe worth discuss ing the key topics  of access  to care and drug pricing.

O n the subject of access  to care and insurance, Trump's  views on the Affordable Care Act (AC A) have been somewhat
ambiguous, with comments  ranging from the AC A being a  "disaster" that needs repeal ing and replacing only to then
backtrack by saying that he is  "not running to terminate" the AC A but wanted to make i t "beIer" and "less  expensive".
Regardless , there is  a  potenDal  risk that the new administraDon al lows the Federal  subs idies  that provide financial
ass istance to mi l l ions  of Americans  to sunset at the end of 2025, a  scenario that would create a  headwind for the
healthcare insurance companies  exposed to Medicaid and the exchanges. A second derivaDve of that scenario would
be less  paDent volumes running through the healthcare system, potenDal ly puWng modest pressure on healthcare
faci l iDes  and providers . O n the subject of drug pricing, things  become even more opaque given the Republ icans ' lack of
publ ic commentary. Maybe they wi l l  look to stal l  the 2022 I nflaDon reducDon Act (I R A), which introduced measures
aimed at reducing the cost of prescripDon drugs  for US seniors , or perhaps  the Trump AdministraDon wi l l  look to
negoDate even bigger price discounts? Regardless  of the eventual  outcome, a  Republ ican tri fecta and Trump's
surpris ing nominee to run the H H S, has  introduced a greater level  of near-term uncertainty, near- term uncertainty that
could yield interesting medium-term investment opportunities .

Positioning and process
The Company began the financial  year with s ignificant exposure to healthcare faci l iDes , biotechnology and healthcare
suppl ies  a longs ide a modest pos iDve Dlt towards  managed care. The biggest underweight was  in the pharmaceuDcals
sector, with smal ler underweights  in healthcare distributors , healthcare services  and l i fe sciences  tools  and services .

As  the year progressed, the sustainabi l i ty of high levels  of uDl isaDon that characterised much of 2023 and the start of
2024 became a concern, plus  valuaDons appeared to be rather stretched, especial ly for faci l iDes  stocks . As  such, the
overweight pos iDons in healthcare faci l iDes  and medical  devices  (i .e. healthcare suppl ies  and equipment) were
reduced, having had an elevated exposure for the first hal f of the financial  year. Nonetheless , we maintained a pos iDve
stance on these sectors , especial ly suppl ies , focuss ing on companies  with reasonable valuaDons that are ei ther in the
middle of a  new product cycle or whose sales  growth and earning power are under-appreciated by the market. We
would also note that medical  technology companies  are perhaps  the ones  further ahead in their adopDon of AI ,
a l though we would also caveat that there remain reimbursement barriers  that could s low the moneDsaDon of new AI
appl ications.

Throughout the financial  year, the Company was cons istently underweight versus  the benchmark in pharmaceuDcals
and overweight in biotechnology. VariaDons in the magnitude of the difference versus  the benchmark were mostly
driven by stock specifics , with innovaDon and new product cycles  central  to the decis ion-making process . As  a
col lecDve, pharmaceuDcal  companies  tend to have mature revenue and earnings  growth profiles  but there have been
significant breakthroughs in areas  such as  obes ity, Alzheimer's  disease and respiratory disorders  l ike CO P D (smoker's
cough) and RSV (respiratory syncyDal  vi rus) that are changing the investment landscape for some. Not only do these
breakthroughs meet high unmet medical  needs, but they offer s ignificant commercial  opportuniDes  that could drive
very attractive revenue and earnings  growth.

As  a  reminder, the Company has  exposure to this  theme through holdings  in companies  l ike El i  Li l ly, Sanofi, S O BI  and
Zealand Pharma (a biotechnology company).

Also, the Company adopted a less  negaDve stance on l i fe sciences  tools  and services , an industry that has  faced
several  chal lenges  in recent years , from customers  reducing inventories  for bioprocess ing consumables  and primary
packaging components , depressed emerging biotechnology funding, muted replacement cycles  for equipment, a  more
cauDous approach to R&D (research and development) from larger biopharmaceuDcal  companies  and a s lump in
Chinese demand. Looking ahead, the industry's  end-market fundamentals  remain intact and exposure to the subsector
has  increased on a view that the Dde wi l l  eventual ly turn. Thanks  to the sDmulus  measures  announced by the Chinese
government, there could be a rebound in demand for l i fe science equipment in China. Moreover, there are s igns  that
early-stage biotechnology funding is  improving which should benefit outsourcing companies  such as  Contract
Research O rganisaDons and Contract Development and Manufacturing O rganisaDons. F inal ly, commentaries  from
various  sources  suggest customer inventory destocking is  ending and that a  new replacement cycle for bas ic l i fe
science instrumentations  is  emerging.



science instrumentations  is  emerging.

 
Geographical Exposure at 30 September 2024 30 September 2023

United States 46.2% 65.1%

Switzerland 12.6% 7.1%

Denmark 8.7% 8.3%

Japan 6.1% 7.6%

France 6.0% 3.9%

Netherlands 3.9% -

Ireland 3.4% 0.8%

Germany 3.3% 2.3%

Belgium 2.8% -

United Kingdom 2.5% 10.6%

Sweden 2.1% 2.8%

Italy 1.4% -

Other net assets/(liabilities) 1.0% (9.3%)

India - 0.8%

Total 100.0% 100.0%
Source: Polar Capital, September 2024

 
 

Sector Exposure at 30 September 2024 30 September 2023

Pharmaceuticals 28.0% 30.8%

Biotechnology 20.5% 20.2%

Healthcare Equipment 14.3% 15.4%

Life Sciences Tools & Services 10.8% 6.8%

Managed Healthcare 7.7% 11.1%

Healthcare Supplies 5.4% 7.6%

Healthcare Facilities 3.5% 9.7%

Healthcare Services 3.3% 2.4%

Metal & Glass Containers 2.3% 2.5%

Healthcare Technology 2.3% 2.0%

Other net assets/(liabilities) 1.0% (9.3%)

Healthcare Distributors 0.9% 0.8%

Total 100.0% 100.0%
 
Source: Polar Capital; September 2024; Please note the change in other net assets/(liabilities) was primarily driven by the repayment of the ZDP shares, as discussed below

 
From a geographic perspecDve, the Company conDnues to have an overweight stance in Europe and, a lbeit on a smal ler
scale, Japan. The biggest changes  to the por?ol io were a substanDal  decrease in our exposure to North America and a
corresponding increase in European holdings. This  shiP in pos iDoning was an effect of stock selecDon and changes  in
the al location to subsectors .
 
We also note that the exposure to smal l -cap stocks  (< 5bn) was  reduced versus  the start of the financial  year. This  was
driven by a  preference for select investments  in the Growth portfol io.
 
W hi le our previous  charts  focus  on subsector and geographical  weighDngs, boIom-up stock selecDon is  central  to our
investment process . The healthcare industry is  complex and dynamic, characterised by varied news flow, and lends
itsel f to acDve management. We aim to capital ise on dis locaDons between near-term valuaDons and medium-term
fundamentals . O ur in-house idea generaDon is  complemented by external  research, with convicDon bui l t through
company meeDngs, investor conferences, and discuss ions  with expert phys icians  and consultants . O ur team adheres  to
a strong valuaDon discipl ine, examining a  wide range of metrics , including sales  and earnings  revis ions, price-to-
earnings  ratios , enterprise values  and free cash flow.

 
Net Gearing
The Company has  historical ly used gearing in the form of Zero Dividend P reference (ZD P ) Shares  through i ts  subs idiary,
P CGH ZD P  P lc, which was created as  part of the Company's  restructure in 2017 for the sole purpose of providing a  loan
to the parent. As  previous ly announced, the subs idiary company was incorporated with a  l imited l i fe of seven years  and
therefore the ZD P  Shares  were repaid and the Company l iquidated on 19 June 2024 in accordance with i ts  ArDcles  of
Association.
 
During the financial  year, unDl  the l iquidaDon of the subs idiary and repayment of the loan, gearing averaged 7.8%,
adjusted to reflect the risk/reward outlook throughout the past 12 months. Fol lowing repayment of the loan provided by
the subs idiary, the Company's  por?ol io has  remained ungeared. The team conDnues to adopt a  top-down strategy in
respect of the Company's  por?ol io whereby acDve decis ions  are made on market cap, subsector and geographic
exposure, depending on the current macro-outlook of the team which is  formulated with the help of third-party research
and monitoring many key risk indicators . Alternative gearing sources  may be cons idered in due course.
 
Outlook for healthcare: Finding solutions to complex problems
O n an absolute bas is , this  financial  year has  been a rewarding one for healthcare investors , a lbeit that the sector has
underperformed the broader market which has  favoured more consumer-driven sectors  such as  informaDon technology
and communicaDon services . W ith senDment towards  healthcare weak, as  i l lustrated by extreme exchange- traded fund
(ETF) ou?lows from the sector, the outlook from a contrarian perspecDve feels  real ly compel l ing. APer a l l , the sector
conDnues to des ign and develop innovaDve medicines  and technologies  that are yielding aIracDve commercial
rewards, the demand for products  and services  conDnues unabated and the industry's  global  reach offers  mulDple
sources  of long-term, durable growth.
 
The healthcare industry is  incredibly dynamic and invesDng heavi ly in developing innovaDve soluDons to solve
complex problems. However, innovaDon without access  is  not sufficient, so address ing the chal lenge of access  and
affordabi l i ty i s  of equal  importance, not just for the commercial  success  of the companies  but a lso for societal  good.
Thankful ly, we are seeing evidence that payers ,



Thankful ly, we are seeing evidence that payers ,
especial ly on the private s ide, are making concerted efforts  to address  the chal lenge and, as  we think about the
financial  year ahead, this  theme wi l l  become more and more important, in both developed and emerging markets .
 
The manufacture, approval  and launch of safe and effecDve bios imi lars  wi l l  not only generate materia l  savings  and
expand access  to care, but a lso offer durable growth prospects  for the leading protagonists . The chal lenge for the
payers , especial ly on the commercial  s ide in the US, i s  to ensure that the right mechanisms are put in place to drive
access  and volumes. S imi larly with AI /M L-enabled technologies , where the pace of innovaDon is  very dynamic,
healthcare systems must first get comfortable with the qual i ty of the data outputs , and secondly introduce the
appropriate levels  of reimbursement to reflect the value of the technologies  and ensure broad uDl i ty. Emerging markets ,
especial ly China which could benefit from economic sDmulus, are another area of interest which could see a
renaissance in the coming months  and years  as  the healthcare system finds the right balance between cost control ,
compl iance and attracting innovative, best-in-class  therapies , devices  and capital  equipment.
 
I n conclus ion, whi lst the healthcare sector currently appears  to be out of favour relaDve to the broader market, i t i s
del ivering high levels  of innovaDon and has  cons istently shown the abi l i ty to generate strong revenue and earnings
growth, regardless  of the economic, pol iDcal  and regulatory environment. Add in a  greater focus  on access  and
affordabi l i ty and we bel ieve the prospects  to be very bright indeed.
 
James Douglas and Gareth Powell
Co-Managers  of the Polar Capital  Global  Healthcare Trust plc
 
12 December 2024

 
 

1 The value of a listed company's shares owned by shareholders; market capitalisaDon (cap) is the price per share mulDplied by the  number
of shares
2 basis point is a common unit of measure for interest rates and other percentages in finance
3 A biosimilar product is a biological product that is highly similar to, and has no clinically meaningful differences in terms of safety or
effectiveness, from an existing reference product 

PORTFOLIO REVIEW
 
 
Full Investment Portfolio
As at 30 September

           

Ranking Stock Sector Country Market Value
£'000

% of total net
assets

2024 2023    2024
 

2023 2024 2023

1 (1) El i  Li l ly Pharmaceuticals United States 37,952 28,037 7.9% 6.7%

2 (-) UnitedHealth Managed Healthcare United States 36,900 - 7.7% -
3 (-) Novo Nordisk Pharmaceuticals Denmark 29,395 - 6.1% -
4 (4) AbbVie Biotechnology United States 22,508 25,463 4.6% 6.1%
5 (-) Roche Pharmaceuticals Switzerland 21,457 - 4.5% -
6 (-) Sanofi Pharmaceuticals France 17,095 - 3.6% -
7 (-) Fresenius Healthcare Services Germany 15,584 - 3.3% -
8 (-) Sandoz Pharmaceuticals Switzerland 14,947 - 3.1% -
9 (-) Terumo Healthcare Equipment Japan 14,764 - 3.1% -

10 (7) Intuitive Surgical Healthcare Equipment United States 14,273 17,482 3.0% 4.2%
Top 10 investments
 

  224,875  46.9%  
 

11 (-) Insulet Healthcare Equipment United States 13,633 - 2.8% -
12 (-) UCB Pharmaceuticals Belgium 13,521 - 2.8% -
13 (20) Lonza Li fe Sciences  Tools  &

Services
Switzerland 13,215 10,358 2.8% 2.5%

14 (6) Zealand Pharma Biotechnology Denmark 12,497 19,655 2.6% 4.7%
15 (-) ICON Life Sciences  Tools  &

Services
Ireland 12,122 - 2.5% -

16 (27) BioMerieux Healthcare Equipment France 11,678 8,777 2.4% 2.1%
17 (-) Bruker BioSciences Li fe Sciences  Tools  &

Services
United States 11,077 - 2.3% -

18 (18) AptarGroup Metal  & Glass
Containers

United States 11,011 10,480 2.3% 2.5%

19 (-) Avidity Biosciences Biotechnology United States 10,732 - 2.2% -
20 (15) Acadia Healthcare Healthcare Faci l i ties United States 10,654 10,787 2.2% 2.6%

Top 20 investments
 

  345,015  71.8%  
 

21 (9) Alcon Healthcare Suppl ies Switzerland 10,529 14,397 2.2% 3.4%
22 (-) Argenx Biotechnology Netherlands 10,497 - 2.2% -
23 (19) Swedish Orphan

Biovitrum
Biotechnology Sweden 9,865 10,400 2.1% 2.5%

24 (-) Vaxcyte Biotechnology United States 8,936 - 1.9% -
25 (-) ConvaTec Healthcare Suppl ies United

Kingdom
8,900 - 1.9% -

26 (-) Penumbra Healthcare Equipment United States 8,675 - 1.8% -
27 (-) Avantor Li fe Sciences  Tools  &

Services
United States 8,407 - 1.8% -

28 (26) Legend Biotech Biotechnology United States 8,272 9,565 1.7% 2.3%
29 (34) Medley Healthcare

Technology
Japan 8,148 4,953 1.7% 1.2%

30 (-) Merus Biotechnology Netherlands 8,027 - 1.7% -
Top 30 investments   435,271  90.8%



Top 30 investments
 

 
 

 435,271  90.8%

31 (28) Cytokinetics Biotechnology United States 6,980 8,172 1.5% 1.9%
32 (-) Stevanato Li fe Sciences  Tools  &

Services
Ita ly 6,737 - 1.4% -

33 (41) Amvis Healthcare Faci l i ties Japan 6,242 2,350 1.3% 0.6%
34 (-) RxSight Healthcare Suppl ies United States 6,009 - 1.3% -
35 (17) DexCom Healthcare Equipment United States 5,731 10,560 1.2% 2.5%
36 (38) Uniphar Healthcare

Distributors
Ireland 4,440 3,196 0.9% 0.8%

37 (37) Intel l igent
Ultrasound

Healthcare
Technology

United
Kingdom

2,726 3,272 0.6% 0.8%

Total equities
 

  474,136  99.0%

Other net assets
 
 

  4,937  1.0%  

Net assets
 

   479,073  100.0%  

 
STRATEGIC REPORT

 
The Strategic Report section of this Annual Report comprises the Chair's Statement, the Investment Manager's Report,
including information on the portfolio, and this Strategic Report. This Report has been prepared to provide information to
shareholders on the Company's strategy and the potential for this strategy to succeed, including a fair review of the
Company's performance during the year ended 30 September 2024, the position of the Company at the year end and a
description of the principal risks and uncertainties, including both economic and business risk factors underlying any such
forward-looking information.
 
Business Model and Regulatory Arrangements
The Company's  bus iness  model  fol lows that of an external ly managed investment trust providing Shareholders  with
access  to a  global  portfol io of healthcare stocks .
 
The Company is  des ignated an AlternaDve I nvestment Fund ('AI F ') under the AlternaDve I nvestment Fund Management
DirecDve ('AI F M D') and, as  required by the DirecDve, has  contracted with Polar Capital  LLP  to act as  the AlternaDve
Investment Fund Manager ('AIFM') and HSBC Bank Plc to act as  the Depositary.
 
Both the AI F M and the Depositary have responsibi l iDes  under AI F M D for ensuring that the assets  of the Company are
managed in accordance with the investment pol icy and are held in safe custody. The Board remains  responsible for
seWng the investment strategy and operaDonal  guidel ines  as  wel l  as  meeDng the requirements  of the F inancial  Conduct
Authori ty ('FCA') Listing Rules  and the Companies  Act 2006.
 
The AI F M D requires  certain informaDon to be made avai lable to investors  in AI Fs  before they invest and requires  that
materia l  changes  to this  informaDon be disclosed in the Annual  Report of each AI F. I nvestor Disclosure Documents ,
which set out informaDon on the Company's  investment strategy and pol icies , gearing, risk, l iquidity, administraDon,
management, fees , confl icts  of interest and other Shareholder information are avai lable on the Company's  website.
 
There have been no materia l  changes  to the informaDon requiring disclosure. Any informaDon requiring immediate
disclosure pursuant to the AI F M D wi l l  be disclosed to the London Stock Exchange. Statements  from the Depositary and
the AIFM can be found on the Company's  website.
 
Investment Objective and Policy
The Company's  Investment Objective is  to generate capital  growth through investments  in a  global  portfol io of
healthcare stocks .

The Company wi l l  seek to achieve i ts  objecDve by invesDng in a  divers ified global  por?ol io cons isDng primari ly of
l i s ted equities . The portfol io is  divers i fied by geography, industry subsector and investment s ize.
 
The por?ol io wi l l  comprise a  s ingle pool  of investments , but for operaDonal  purposes, the I nvestment Manager wi l l
maintain a  Growth por?ol io and an I nnovaDon por?ol io. I nnovaDon companies  are broadly defined by the I nvestment
Manager as  smal l/mid cap innovators  that are driving disrupDve change, giving rise not only to new drugs  and surgical
treatments  but a lso to a  transformaDon in the management and del ivery of healthcare. The Growth por?ol io is  expected
to comprise a  majori ty of the Company's  assets . For this  purpose, once an innovaDon stock's  market capital isaDon has
risen above US 5bn, i t wi l l  ordinari ly then be treated as  a  growth stock.
 
The relaDve raDo between the two por?ol ios  may vary over the l i fe of the Company due to factors  such as  asset growth
and the I nvestment Manager's  views as  to the risks  and opportuniDes  offered by investments  in each pool  and across
the combined por?ol io. The original  make-up of the combined por?ol io was  of up to 50 stocks , with growth stocks  being
primari ly US l i s ted. I n 2018, the Board authorised an increase to the number of stocks  able to be held to 65 and
confirmed there is  no restriction on geographical  exposure.
 
The combined por?ol io wi l l  therefore be made up of interests  in up to 65 companies , with no s ingle investment
accounDng for more than 10% (or 15% in the case of an investment in another fund managed by the I nvestment
Manager) of the Gross  Assets  at the Dme of investment. The innovaDon por?ol io may include stocks  which are neither
quoted nor l i s ted on any stock exchange but the exposure to such stocks , in aggregate, wi l l  not exceed 5% of Gross
Assets  at the Dme of investment. I n the event that the I nvestment Manager launches  a  dedicated healthcare innovaDon
fund, the Company's  exposure to innovaDon stocks  may be achieved in whole or in part by an investment in that fund. I n
any event, the Company wi l l  not, without the prior consent of the Board, acquire more than 15% of any such healthcare
innovation fund's  i ssued share capital .
 
The Board remains  pos iDve on the outlook for healthcare and the Company wi l l  conDnue to pursue i ts  I nvestment
O bjecDve in accordance with the stated investment pol icy and strategy. Future performance is  dependent to a
s ignificant degree on the world's  financial  markets  and their reacDons to economic events  and other geo-pol iDcal
forces. The Chair's  Statement and the Investment Manager's  Report comment on the development and performance of the
business  during the financial  year, the outlook and potentia l  ri sks  to the performance of the portfol io.
 
Strategy and Investment Approach



Strategy and Investment Approach
The I nvestment Manager's  investment process  is  primari ly based on boIom-up fundamental  analys is . The I nvestment
Manager uses  a  qual i taDve filter cons isDng of key cri teria  to bui ld up a watch-l i s t of securiDes  that i s  monitored on a
regular bas is . Due di l igence is  then carried out on the individual  securiDes  on the watch-l i s t. Each individual  holding is
assessed on i ts  own merits  in terms of risk: reward including ES G cri teria. W hi le the Company expects  normal ly to be
ful ly or substanDal ly invested, the Company may hold cash or money market instruments  pending deployment in the
por?ol io. I n addiDon, i t wi l l  have the flexibi l i ty, when the I nvestment Manager perceives  there to be actual  or expected
adverse equity market conditions, to maintain cash holdings  as  i t deems appropriate.
 
Service Providers
Polar Capital  LLP  has  been appointed to act as  the I nvestment Manager and AI F M as  wel l  as  to provide or procure
company secretaria l  services , markeDng and administraDve services , including accounDng, por?ol io valuaDon and
trade settlement which i t has  arranged to del iver through HSBC Securi ties  Services  ("HSS").
 
The Company also contracts  directly, on terms agreed periodical ly, with a  number of third parDes  for the provis ion of
special is t services , namely:

·        Panmure Gordon & Co as  Corporate Broker;
·        Herbert Smith Freehi l l s  LLP as  Sol ici tors ;
·        HSBC Securi ties  Services  as  Custodian and Depositary;
·        Equiniti  Limited as  Share Registrars ;
·        RD:IR for Investor Relations  and Shareholder Analys is ;
·        Camarco as  PR advisors ;
·        PricewaterhouseCoopers  LLP as  Independent Auditors ;
·        Huguenot Limited as  website des igners  and internet hosting services; and
·        Perivan Limited as  des igners  and printers  for shareholder communications.

 
Gearing
The Company has  historical ly uDl ised gearing in the form of Zero Dividend P reference (ZD P ) Shares  through i ts
subs idiary, P CGH ZD P  P lc, which was created as  part of the Company's  restructure in 2017 for the sole purpose of
providing a  loan to the parent. The subs idiary company was incorporated with a  l imited l i fe of seven years  and,
fol lowing repayment of the loan by the parent and redempDon of the ZD P  shares , i t was  placed into l iquidaDon on 19
June 2024 in accordance with the ArDcles  of AssociaDon. Fol lowing repayment of this  loan the Company's  por?ol io has
remained ungeared, however the ArDcles  of AssociaDon provide that the Company may borrow up to 15% of i ts  NAV at
the Dme of drawdown for tacDcal  deployment when the Board bel ieves  that gearing wi l l  enhance returns  to
shareholders . The Company currently has  no intenDon of seeking al ternaDve forms of short-term gearing but wi l l  keep
this  decis ion under review in conjunction with any proposed corporate action.

Benchmark
The Company wi l l  measure the I nvestment Manager's  performance against the M S C I  AC W I  Healthcare I ndex total  return,
in sterl ing with dividends reinvested. Although the Company has  a  benchmark, this  i s  neither a  target nor determinant of
investment strategy. The por?ol io may diverge substanDal ly from the consDtuents  of this  index. The purpose of the
Benchmark is  to set a  reasonable measure of performance for shareholders  above which the I nvestment Manager earns
a share for any outperformance i t has  del ivered.
 
Investment Management Company and Management of The Portfolio
As the Company is  an investment vehicle for shareholders , the Directors  have sought to ensure that the bus iness  of the
Company is  managed by a  leading special is t investment management team and that the investment strategy remains
aIracDve to shareholders . The Directors  bel ieve that a  strong working relaDonship with Polar Capital  LLP  (the
I nvestment Manager) wi l l  achieve the opDmum return for shareholders . As  such, the Board and the I nvestment Manager
operate in a  supportive, co-operative and open environment.
 
The I nvestment Manager is  Polar Capital  LLP  ('Polar Capital '), which is  authorised and regulated by the F inancial
Conduct Authori ty, to act as  Investment Manager and AIFM of the Company with sole responsibi l i ty for the discretionary
management of the Company's  assets  (including uninvested cash) and sole responsibi l i ty to take decis ions  as  to the
purchase and sale of individual  investments . The I nvestment Manager a lso has  responsibi l i ty for asset a l locaDon
within the l imits  of the investment pol icy and guidel ines  establ ished and regularly reviewed by the Board, a l l  subject to
the overal l  control  and supervis ion of the Board. Polar Capital  provides  a  team of healthcare special is ts  and the
por?ol io is  co-managed by Mr James Douglas  and Mr Gareth Powel l . The I nvestment Manager has  other resources
which support the investment team and has  experience in managing and administering other investment trust
companies .
 
Under the terms of the I M A, the I nvestment Manager a lso provides  or procures  accountancy services , company
secretaria l , markeDng and day-to-day administraDve services , including the monitoring of third-party suppl iers , which
are directly appointed by the Company. The I nvestment Manager has , with the consent of the Directors , delegated the
provis ion of certain of these administraDve funcDons to H S BC SecuriDes  Services  and to Polar Capital  Secretaria l
Services  Limited.
 
Fee Arrangements
Management Fee
Under the terms of the I M A, the I nvestment Manager wi l l  be enDtled to a  management fee together with reimbursement
of reasonable expenses  incurred by i t in the performance of i ts  duDes. The management fee is  payable monthly in
arrears  and is  charged at the rate of 0.75% per annum based on the lower of the market capital isaDon and adjusted net
asset value. I n accordance with the Directors ' pol icy on the al locaDon of expenses  between income and capital , in each
financial  year 80% of the management fee payable is  charged to capital  and the remaining 20% to income.

 
Performance Fee
The I nvestment Manager may receive a  performance fee paid in cash when various  performance parameters  are met. No
performance fee was accrued or i s  due to be paid as  at the year ended 30 September 2024 (2023: ni l ). Any performance
fee accrued wi l l  be paid in cash at the end of the Company's  expected l i fe (except in the case of an earl ier terminaDon of
the IMA).
 
Further detai ls  on the terminaDon arrangements  and performance fee methodology and calculaDon are provided within
the Shareholder Information in the Annual  Report.
 
Performance And Key Performance Objectives
The Board appraises  the performance of the Company and the I nvestment Manager as  the key suppl ier of services  to the
Company against key performance indicators  ('K P I s '). The objecDves  of the K P I s  comprise both specific financial  and
Shareholder related measures. These KPI's  have not di ffered from the prior year.

KPI CONTROL PROCESS OUTCOME



KPI CONTROL PROCESS OUTCOME
 

The provis ion of investment
returns  to shareholders
measured by long-term NAV
growth and relaDve performance
against the Benchmark.

The Board reviews the
performance of the por?ol io in
detai l  and hears  the views of the
I nvestment Manager at each
meeting.

 

The Board also cons iders  the
value del ivered to shareholders
through NAV growth and
dividends paid.

As  at 30 September 2024, the total  net
assets  of the Company amounted to
£479,073,000 (2023: £419,182,000).

 

The Company's  NAV total  return, over the
year ended 30 September 2024, was
14.95% whi le the Benchmark I ndex over
the same period was 9.88%. The
Company's  performance is  explained
further in the I nvestment Manager's
Report.

 

S ince restructuring on 20 June 2017, the
total  return of the NAV was 92.62% and
the benchmark was 82.42%. I nvestment
performance is  explained in the Chair's
Statement and the I nvestment Manager's
Report.

 

The achievement of the dividend
pol icy.

F inancial  forecasts  are reviewed
to track income and
distributions.

Two dividends have been paid or are
payable in respect of the year ended 30
September 2024 total l ing 2.40p per share
(2023: two dividends total l ing 2.20p per
share).

 

The Company's  focus  remains  on capital
growth. W hi le the Company conDnues to
aim to pay two dividends per year these
are expected to be a smal l  part of a
shareholder total  return.

 

Monitoring and reacDng to
issues  created by the discount or
premium of the ordinary share
price to the NAV per ordinary
share with the aim of reduced
discount volaDl i ty for
shareholders .

The Board receives  regular
informaDon on the composiDon
of the share register including
trading paIerns  and
discount/premium levels  of the
Company's  ordinary shares. The
Board discusses  and authorises
the issue or buy back of shares
when appropriate.

 

The Board is  aware of the
vulnerabi l i ty of a  sector
special is t investment trust to a
change in investor senDment to
that sector. W hi le there is  no
formal  discount pol icy the Board
discusses  the market factors
giving rise to any discount or
premium, the long or short-term
nature of those factors  and the
overal l  benefit to shareholders  of
any acDons. The market l iquidity
is  a lso cons idered when
authoris ing the issue or buy back
of shares  when appropriate
market conditions  prevai l .

 

A dai ly NAV per share, calculated
in accordance with the AI C
guidel ines  is  i ssued to the London
Stock Exchange.

 

The discount of the ordinary share price
to the NAV per ordinary share at the year
ended 30 September 2024 was 4.82%
(2023: 7.71%).

 

During the year ended 30 September
2024, no new shares  were issued or
bought back.

 

The number of shares  in issue, as  at the
year end was 124,149,256 of which
2,879,256 were held in treasury. The
total  voDng rights  of the Company are
121,270,000 shares.

To qual i fy and conDnue to meet
the requirements  for secDons
1158 and 1159 of the
CorporaDon Tax Act 2010
('investment trust status ').

The Board receives  regular
financial  informaDon which
discloses  the current and
projected financial  pos iDon of
the Company against each of the
tests  set out in secDons 1158 and
1159.

The Company was granted investment
trust status  annual ly up to 1 O ctober
2014 and is  deemed to be granted such
status  for each subsequent year subject
to the Company conDnuing to saDsfy the
condiDons of secDon 1158 of the
CorporaDon Tax Act 2010 and other
associated ongoing requirements .

 

The Directors  confirm that the tests  have
been met in the financial  year ended 30
September 2024 and bel ieve that they
wi l l  continue to be met.

To ensure the efficient operaDon
of the Company by monitoring

The Board cons iders  annual ly the
services  provided by the

The Board has  received, and cons idered
saDsfactory, the internal  controls  report



of the Company by monitoring
the services  provided by third
party suppl iers , including the
I nvestment Manager, and
control l ing ongoing charges.

services  provided by the
I nvestment Manager, both
investment and administraDve,
and reviews on a cycle the
provis ion of services  from third
parDes  including the costs  of
their services .
 
The annual  operaDng expenses
are reviewed and any non-
recurring project related
expenditure approved by the
Board.

saDsfactory, the internal  controls  report
of the I nvestment Manager and other key
suppl iers  including the conDngency
arrangements  to faci l i tate the ongoing
operaDons of the Company in the event
of withdrawal  or fa i lure of services .

 

The ongoing charges  for the year ended
30 September 2024 were 0.88%,
compared to 0.87% the previous  year.

 
Risk Management
The Board is  responsible for the management of risks  faced by the Company and, through delegaDon to the Audit
CommiIee, has  establ ished procedures  to manage risk, oversee the internal  control  framework and determine the
nature and extent of the principal  risks  the Company is  wi l l ing to take in order to achieve i ts  long-term strategic
objectives .
 
The establ ished risk management process  the Company fol lows idenDfies and assesses  various  risks , their l ikel ihood,
and poss ible severi ty of impact, cons idering both internal  and external  controls  and factors  that could provide
mitigation. A post mitigation risk impact score is  then determined for each principal  risk.
 
The Audit CommiIee carries  out, at least annual ly, a  robust assessment of the principal  risks  and uncertainDes  with the
ass istance of the I nvestment Manager, conDnual ly monitors  idenDfied risks  and meets  to discuss  both long-term and
emerging risks  outs ide of the normal  cycle of Audit Committee meetings .
 
During the year the Audit CommiIee, in conjuncDon with the Board and the I nvestment Managers  undertook a ful l
review of the Company's  Risk Map including the miDgaDng factors  and controls  to reduce the impact of the risks . The
CommiIee conDnues to closely monitor these risks  a long with any other emerging risks  as  they develop and implements
mitigating actions  as  necessary.
 
The CommiIee is  mindful  of the geopol iDcal  pol iDcal  landscape specifical ly the ongoing mi l i tary acDvity in Ukraine
and the Middle East. Geopol iDcal  events  such as  these can have a s ignificant impact on global  financial  markets , and
hence on the Company's  por?ol io performance. Further informaDon on how the CommiIee has  assessed the Company's
abi l i ty to operate as  a  going concern and the Company's  longer-term viabi l i ty can be found in the Report of the Audit
Committee in the ful l  Annual  Report.
 
The key risks , which are those class i fied as  having the highest risk impact score post mitigation, are detai led below with
a high-level  summary of the management through miDgaDon and status  arrows to indicate any change in assessment
over the past year.
 
Principal Risks and Uncertainties
 

Portfolio Management

 Description Assessment Mitigation

Investment
Performance

Breach of I nvestment pol icy,
I nvestment Manager unable
to del iver the I nvestment
O bjecDve leading to poor
performance against the
benchmark or
market/industry average.

Unchanged from previous
year.

The Board seeks  to miDgate
the impact of such risks
through the regular reporDng
and monitoring of the
Company's  investment
performance against i ts  peer
group, benchmark and other
agreed indicators  of relaDve
performance. A detai led
annual  review of the
investment strategy is
undertaken by the I nvestment
Manager with the Board
including analys is  of
investment markets  and
sector trends.
 
At each meeDng the Board
discusses  developments  in
healthcare and drug
pipel ines  with the I nvestment
Manager in addiDon to the
composiDon and
divers ificaDon of the
por?ol io with sales  and
purchases  of investments
and the degree of risk which
the I nvestment Manager
incurs  to generate investment
returns. I ndividual
investments  are discussed
with the I nvestment Manager
as  wel l  as  the I nvestment
Manager's  general  views on
the various  investment
markets  and the healthcare
sector in parDcular.
AnalyDcal  performance data
and aIribuDon analys is  i s
presented by the I nvestment



presented by the I nvestment
Manager.
 
The Board is  commiIed to a
clear communicaDon
program to ensure
shareholders  understand the
investment strategy. This  i s
maintained through the use
of monthly factsheets  which
have a market commentary
from the I nvestment Manager
as  wel l  as  por?ol io data, an
informaDve website as  wel l
as  annual  and hal f year
reports .
 

Trading ExecuDon of unauthorised
trade/deal ing error. Error or
breach may cause regulatory
invesDgaDon leading to fines,
reputaDonal  damage and risk
to investment trust status .

Unchanged from previous
year.

I nvestment l imits  and
restricDons are encoded into
the deal ing and operaDons
systems of the I nvestment
Manager and various
overs ight funcDons are
undertaken to ensure there is
early warning of any
potenDal  i ssue of
compl iance or regulatory
matters .
 

Discount/Premium Pers istent discount in excess
of Board or Shareholder
acceptable
levels .

Unchanged from previous
year.

The Board regularly
cons iders , in comparison to
the sector and peers , the
level  of premium and
discount of the share price to
the NAV and ways  to enhance
Shareholder value including
share issuance and buy
backs.
 
The Board has  careful ly
monitored the discount level
and market movements  and
has  discussed performance
with the Managers  and
advisers . The discount of the
Company narrowed during
the year under review and as
at 30 September 2024, the
discount of the ordinary
share price to the NAV per
ordinary share was 4.82%
(2023: 7.71%). The Chair a lso
meets  regularly with key
shareholders  to understand
any concerns  and views are
detai led
in the Chair's  Statement and
within the s172 Report.
Further detai l  on the
performance and the impact
of market movements  on the
Company is  given in the
I nvestment Manager's
Report.
 

Regulatory Risk

 Description Assessment Mitigation

 Non-compl iance with
statutes , regulaDons and
disclosure requirements ,
including FC A UK  l i s ted
company regime and
Companies  Act 2006;
s1158/1159 of the
CorporaDon Tax Act 2010, the
Companies  Act 2006 and
other UK , European and
overseas  legis laDon affecDng
UK  companies  including
MiFID II  and the GDPR.
 
Not complying with
accounDng standards  could
result i s  a  suspension of
l i sDng or loss  of investment
trust status , reputaDonal
damage and Shareholder

Unchanged from previous
year

The Board monitors
regulatory change with the
ass istance of the I nvestment
Manager, Company Secretary
and external  profess ional
suppl iers  and implements
necessary changes  should
they be required.
 
The Board receives
regulatory reports  for
discuss ion and, i f required,
cons iders  the need for any
remedial  acDon. I n addiDon,
as  an investment company,
the Company is  required to
comply with a  framework of
tax laws, regulaDon and
company law.



damage and Shareholder
activism.
 
Further risks  arise from not
keeping abreast of changes  in
legis laDon and regulaDons
which have in recent years
been substantia l .
 

Economic And Market Risk

 Description Assessment Mitigation

Financial  loss  due to
unexpected natural  disaster
or other unpredictable event
disrupDng the abi l i ty to
operate or s ignificant
exposure to the economic
cycles  of the markets  in which
the underlying investments
conduct their bus iness
operaDons as  wel l  as  the
economic impact on
investment markets  where
such investments  are l i s ted.
 
F luctuaDons in stock markets
and currency exchange rates
could be advantageous or
disadvantageous to the
Company and i ts
performance.
 
DisrupDon to trading
pla?orms and support
services .

Unchanged from previous
year.

The Board regularly
discusses  global  geopol iDcal
issues  and general  economic
condiDons and
developments .
 
The impact on the por?ol io
from other geopol iDcal
changes  are monitored
through exisDng control
systems and discussed
regularly by the Board. W hi le
i t i s  difficult to quanDfy the
impact of such changes, i t i s
not anDcipated that they wi l l
fundamental ly affect the
business  of the Company or
make healthcare invesDng
any less  des irable. The
longer term effects  of
geopol iDcal  events  in
Ukraine and the Middle East
cris is  wi l l  conDnue to be
assessed by the Audit
CommiIee in l ight of how
they wi l l  impact the
Company's  por?ol io and the
overal l  economic and
geopol iDcal  environment in
which the Company operates .
 
The Company through the
I nvestment Manager, has  a
disaster recovery plan in
place.

Operational Risk

 Description Assessment Mitigation

Service Failure Fai lure in services  provided
by the I nvestment Manager,
C u s t o d i a n , Depositary or
other service providers ;
AccounDng, F inancial  or
Custody Errors  resulDng in
regulatory invesDgaDon or
financial  loss , fa i lure of trade
seIlement, potenDal  loss  of
Shareholder assets  and
investment trust status .

Unchanged from previous
year.

The Board carries  out an
annual  review of internal
control  reports  from
suppl iers  which includes
cyber protocols  and disaster
recovery procedures. Due
di l igence and service reviews
are undertaken with third-
party service providers
including the Custodian and
Depositary.
 
A ful l  review of the internal
control  framework is  carried
out at least annual ly. Regular
reporDng is  received by the
I nvestment Manager on
behalf of the Board from the
Depositary on the safe
custody of the Company's
assets .
 
The Board undertakes
independent reviews of the
Depositary and external
Administrator services  and
addiDonal  resources  have
been put in place by the
I nvestment Manager.
Management accounts  are
produced and reviewed
monthly, s tatutory reporDng
and dai ly NAV calculaDons
are produced by the external
Administrator and veri fied by
the I nvestment Manager.
AccounDng records  are



tested, and valuaDons
verified independently as
part of the year- end
financial  reporting process .
 

Cyber Risk Cyber-aIack caus ing
disrupDon to or fa i lure of
operaDonal  and accounDng
systems and processes
provided by the I nvestment
Manager creaDng an
unexpected event and/or
adverse impact on personnel
or the portfol io.

Unchanged from previous
year.

The number, severi ty and
success  rate of cyberaIacks
have increased cons iderably
over recent years . However,
controls  are in place and the
Board proacDvely seeks  to
keep abreast of
developments  through
updates  with representaDves
of the I nvestment Manager
who undertakes  meeDngs
with relevant service
providers .
 
The Audit CommiIee once
again sought assurance via
the I nvestment Manager,
from each of the Company's
service providers  on the
res i l ience of their bus iness
conDnuity arrangements .
These assurances  and the
subsequent detai led updates
that were given to the
CommiIee provided a
saDsfactory level  of
assurance that there had not
been, and there was no
anDcipaDon of any
disrupDon in the abi l i ty of
each service provider to ful fi l
their duDes as  would
typical ly be expected.
 

Key Person Loss  of I nvestment Manager
or other key management
profess ionals . I mpact on
investor confidence leading to
widening of the discount
and/or poor performance
creaDng a period of
uncertainty and potenDal
terminaDon of the I nvestment
Management Agreement.

Unchanged from previous
year.

The strength and depth of
investment team provides
comfort that there is  not
over-rel iance on one person
with al ternaDve por?ol io
managers  avai lable to act i f
needed. For each key
business  process  roles ,
responsibi l iDes  and
reporDng l ines  are clear and
unambiguous. Key personnel
are incenDvised by equity
parDcipaDon in the
investment management
company.
 

Shareholder
Communications

Fai lure to effecDvely
communicate s ignificant
events  to the shareholder and
investor base.

Unchanged from previous
year.

Polar Capital  Sales  Team and
the Corporate Broker provide
periodic reports  to the Board
on communicaDons with
shareholders  and feedback
received.
 
The Board is  commiIed to a
clear communicaDon
programme to ensure
Shareholders  understand the
investment strategy. This  i s
maintained through the use
of monthly factsheets  which
have a market commentary
from the I nvestment Manager
as  wel l  as  por?ol io data, an
informaDve website as  wel l
as  annual  and hal f year
reports .
 
Contact detai ls  and how to
contact the Board are
provided in regulatory
announcements  and the
Board are present at the AGM
to speak to shareholders .
 

 
Section 172 of the Companies Act 2006
The statutory duDes of the Directors  are l i s ted in s171-177 of the Companies  Act 2006. The Board recognises  that under
s172, Directors  have a duty to promote the success  of the Company for the benefit of i ts  members  (our shareholders) as



s172, Directors  have a duty to promote the success  of the Company for the benefit of i ts  members  (our shareholders) as
a whole and in doing so have regard to the consequences  of any decis ion in the long term, as  wel l  as  having regard to
the Company's  wider stakeholders  amongst other cons ideraDons. The fulfilment of this  duty not only helps  the Company
achieve i ts  I nvestment O bjecDve but ensures  decis ions  are made in a  responsible and sustainable way for
shareholders .
 
To ensure that the Directors  are aware of, and understand, their duDes, they are provided with an inducDon when they
first join the Board, including detai ls  of a l l  relevant regulatory and legal  duDes as  a  Director and conDnue to receive
regular and ongoing updates  on relevant legis laDve and regulatory developments . They also have conDnued access  to
the advice and services  of the Company Secretary and, when deemed necessary, the Directors  can seek independent
profess ional  advice. The Schedule of MaIers  Reserved for the Board, as  wel l  as  the Terms of Reference of i ts
commiIees, are reviewed annual ly and further describe Directors ' responsibi l iDes  and obl igaDons and include any
statutory and regulatory duties .
 
The Board seeks  to understand the needs and prioriDes  of the Company's  stakeholders  and these are taken into account
during discuss ions  and as  part of the decis ion-making process . As  an external ly managed investment company, the
Company does  not have any employees  or customers, however the key stakeholders  and a summary of the Board's
cons ideration and actions  where poss ible in relation to each group of stakeholders  are described in the table below.
 
STAKEHOLDER GROUP
 

HOW WE ENGAGE WITH THEM

SHAREHOLDERS The Directors  have cons idered this  duty when making the strategic decis ions  during
the year that affect shareholders , including the conDnued appointment of the
I nvestment Manager and the recommendaDon that shareholders  vote in favour of the
resoluDons for the Company to conDnue and to renew the al lotment and buy back
authoriDes  at the AGM. The Directors  have also engaged with and taken account of
shareholders ' interests  during the year.
 
The Company's  AGM wi l l  be held at 2:00pm on Thursday 13 February 2025 at the
offices of Polar Capital , 16 Palace Street, London SW 1E 5JD. The Board recognises  that
the AGM is  an important event for shareholders  and the Company and is  keen to
ensure that shareholders  are able to exercise their right to vote and parDcipate. Any
changes  to these arrangements  wi l l  be communicated through the Company's  website
and via  a  Regulatory Information Service announcement.
 
The Board bel ieves  that shareholder engagement remains  important, especial ly in the
current market condiDons and is  keen that the AGM be a parDcipaDve event for a l l . As
was the case in 2024, shareholders  wi l l  once again have the opportunity to hear the
Managers ' pre-recorded presentaDon, reviewing the Company's  performance in the
year and the outlook for 2024-2025, in advance of the AGM. The presentaDon wi l l  be
uploaded to the Company's  website ahead of the AGM, on or before 30 January 2025.
I n addiDon, Shareholders  wi l l  a lso be able to watch the proceedings  of the AGM l ive
via  Zoom Conference.
 
Detai ls  of how to access  the onl ine l ink are provided in the NoDce of AGM. P lease note
that the phys ical  AGM wi l l  comprise the formal  bus iness  and quesDons only; there
wi l l  be no l ive Managers  presentaDon.  Shareholders  are encouraged to send any
quesDons ahead of the AGM to the Board via  the Company Secretary at
cosec@polarcapital.co.uk s taDng the subject maIer as  PCGH-AGM. The Chairs  of the
Board and of the CommiIees, a long with the Managers , wi l l  be in aIendance at the
AGM and wi l l  be avai lable to respond to questions  and concerns  from shareholders .
 
Should any s ignificant votes  be cast against a  resoluDon, the Board wi l l  engage with
shareholders  and explain in i ts  announcement of the results  of the AGM the acDons i t
intends to take to consult shareholders  in order to understand the reasons  behind the
votes  against. Fol lowing the consultaDon, an update wi l l  be publ ished no later than
s ix months  aPer the AGM and the Annual  Report wi l l  detai l  the impact the Shareholder
feedback has  had on any decis ions  the Board has  taken and any actions  or resolutions
proposed.
 
Relations with shareholders
The Board and the Manager cons ider maintaining good communicaDons and engaging
with shareholders  through meeDngs and presentaDons a  key priori ty. The Board
regularly cons iders  the share register of the Company and receives  regular reports
from the Manager and the Corporate Broker on meeDngs aIended with shareholders
and any concerns  that are raised in those meeDngs. The Board also reviews
correspondence from shareholders  and may attend investor presentations.
 
Shareholders  are kept informed by the publ icaDon of annual  and hal f year reports ,
monthly fact sheets , access  to commentary from the I nvestment Manager via  the
Company's  website and aIendance at events  at which the I nvestment Manager
presents .
 
Shareholders  are able to raise any concerns  directly with the Chair or the Board
without intervenDon of the Manager or Company Secretary, they may do this  ei ther in
person at the AGM or at other events , or in wriDng ei ther via  the registered office of the
Company or to the Chair's  speci fic emai l  address  Chair.PCGH@polarcapital.co.uk.
 
The Company, through the sales  and markeDng efforts  of the I nvestment Manager,
encourages  retai l  investment pla?orms to engage with underlying shareholders  in
relaDon to Company communicaDons and enable those shareholders  to cast their
votes  on Shareholder resoluDons; the Company however has  no responsibi l i ty over
such pla?orms. The Board therefore encourage shareholders  invested via  the
pla?orms to regularly vis i t the Company's  website or to make contact with the
Company directly to obtain copies  of Shareholder communications.
 
The Company has  a lso made arrangements  with i ts  registrar for shareholders , who
own their shares  directly rather than through a nominee or share scheme, to view their



account onl ine at www.shareview.co.uk. O ther services  are a lso avai lable via  this
service.
 
Outcomes and strategic decisions during the year
AGM
To enable more shareholders  the opportunity to hear the I nvestment Manager's  AGM
presentaDon, the Board has  opted to pre-record and upload this  to the website ahead
of the voDng deadl ine and in-person formal  bus iness  AGM. I n addiDon, shareholders
wi l l  a lso have the opportunity to watch the proceedings  of the AGM l ive via  Zoom
Conference. Detai ls  of how to access  the onl ine l ink are provided in the Notice of AGM.
 

INVESTMENT MANAGER Through the Board meeDng cycle, regular updates  and the work of the Management
Engagement CommiIee reviewing the services  of the I nvestment Manager annual ly, the
Board is  able to safeguard Shareholder interests  by:
 

·  Ensuring excess ive risk i s  not undertaken in the pursuit of investment
performance;

·    Ensuring adherence to the I nvestment Management Pol icy and reviewing the
agreed management and performance fees;

·     Ensuring compl iance with statutory legal  requirements , regulaDons and other
advisory guidance such as  consumer duty and aspects  of operaDonal
res i l ience; and

·  Reviewing the I nvestment Manager's  decis ion making and cons istency in
investment process .
 

Maintaining a  close and construcDve working relaDonship with the Manager is
crucia l  as  the Board and the I nvestment Manager both aim to conDnue to achieve
consistent, long-term returns  in l ine with the I nvestment O bjecDve. The culture which
the Board maintains  to ensure this  involves  encouraging open discuss ion with the
I nvestment Manager; recognis ing that the interests  of shareholders  and the I nvestment
Manager are a l igned, providing construcDve chal lenge and making Directors '
experience avai lable to support the I nvestment Manager. This  culture is  a l igned with
the col legiate and meritocraDc culture which Polar Capital  has  developed and
maintains .
 
Outcomes and strategic decisions during the year
 
ESG
The Board conDnued to engage with the I nvestment Manager to understand how ES G
has been integrated into the overal l  house style, the healthcare team investment
approach and decis ion making as  wel l  as  the methodology behind this . The Board also
receives  informaDon on how ES G affects  Polar Capital  as  a  bus iness  and the
healthcare team in particular.
 
Consumer Duty
The Board conDnues to work with the I nvestment Manager to ensure the obl igaDons of
the new Consumer Duty regulaDons are adopted appropriately. Al l  communicaDons
including the website, fact sheets  and other publ ished documentaDon, are reviewed
ahead of publ icaDon to ensure they are appropriate for a l l  end users . A 'value for
money' assessment is  undertaken annual ly and is  made avai lable to distributors  on
request for their due di l igence processes.
 
Cost Disclosure
The Board has  engaged with the Manager to understand the impl icaDons of the FC A's
forbearance statement and explore any changes  that could be appl ied to key
documentaDon to take advantage of the exempDon from P R I I Ps  and the cost disclosure
aspects  of Mi F I D. The Board has  reviewed the changes  to the Company's  Key
I nformaDon Document and Factsheet, both of which have been updated in l ine with
industry guidance.
 
Management
The Management Engagement CommiIee has  recommended and the Board has
approved the conDnued appointment of the I nvestment Manager on the terms set out
within the Investment Management Agreement.
 

INVESTEE COMPANIES The Board has  instructed the I nvestment Manager to take into account the publ ished
corporate governance pol icies  of the companies  in which i t invests .
 
The Board has  a lso cons idered the I nvestment Manager's  Stewardship Code and P roxy
VoDng Pol icy. The VoDng Pol icy is  for the I nvestment Manager to vote at a l l  general
meeDngs  of companies  in favour of resoluDons proposed by the management where i t
bel ieves  that the proposals  are in the interests  of shareholders . However, in
excepDonal  cases , where the I nvestment Manager bel ieves  that a  resoluDon would be
detrimental  to the interests  of shareholders  or the financial  performance of the
Company, appropriate noDficaDon wi l l  be given and abstenDons or a  vote against wi l l
be lodged.
 
The I nvestment Manager has  voted at 41 company meeDngs over the year ended 30
September 2024, with 35.7% of meeDngs  having at least one against, withheld or
abstain vote.
 
The I nvestment Manager reports  to the Board, when requested, on the appl icaDon of
the Stewardship Code and VoDng Pol icy. The I nvestment Manager's  Stewardship Code
and VoDng Pol icy can be found on the I nvestment Manager's  website in the Corporate
Governance secDon (www.polarcapital .co.uk). Further informaDon on how the
I nvestment Manager cons iders  ES G in i ts  engagement with investee companies  can be
found in the ESG report in the Annual  Report and Accounts .



found in the ESG report in the Annual  Report and Accounts .
 
Outcomes and strategic decisions during the year
The Board receives  information on the ratings  of investee companies  and is  able to use
this  as  a  tool  to inform discuss ions  with the Manager during Board meetings .
 

SERVICE PROVIDERS The Directors  have frequent engagement with the Company's  other service providers
through the annual  cycle of reporDng and due di l igence meeDngs or s i te vis i ts . This
engagement is  completed with the aim of having effecDve overs ight of delegated
services , seeking to improve the processes  for the benefit of the Company and to
understand the needs and views of the Company's  service providers , as  stakeholders
in the Company. Further informaDon on the Board's  engagement with service providers
is  included in the Corporate Governance Statement and the Report of the Audit
Committee. During the year under review, due di l igence meetings  have been undertaken
by the I nvestment Manager and where poss ible, service providers  have joined
meeDngs to present their reports  directly to the Board or the Audit CommiIee as
appropriate.
 
Outcomes and strategic decisions during the year
The reviews of the Company's  service providers  have been pos iDve and the Directors
bel ieve their conDnued appointment is  in the best interests  of the Company. The
accounDng and administraDon services  of H S BC SecuriDes  Services  (H S S) are
contracted through Polar Capital  and provided to the Company under the terms of the
I M A. The Board conDnue to monitor service levels  and due di l igence reviews
conducted by the Company Secretary and is  saDsfied that the service received
continues  to be of a  high standard.
 

PROXY ADVISORS The support of proxy adviser agencies  is  important to the Directors , as  the Company
seeks  to retain a  reputaDon for high standards  of corporate governance, which the
Directors  bel ieve contributes  to the long-term sustainable success  of the Company. The
Directors  cons ider the recommendaDons of these various  proxy voDng agencies  when
contemplaDng decis ions  that wi l l  affect shareholders  and also when reporDng to
shareholders  through the Hal f Year and Annual  Reports .
 
Recognis ing the principles  of stewardship, as  promoted by the UK  Stewardship Code,
the Board welcomes engagement with a l l  of i ts  investors . The Board recognises  that the
views, quesDons from, and recommendaDons of many insDtuDonal  investors  and
proxy adviser agencies  provide a valuable feedback mechanism and play a  part in
highl ighting evolving shareholders ' expectations  and concerns.
 
Outcomes and strategic decisions during the year
W here poss ible the Chair and other representaDves  of the Company have engaged with
the stewardship teams of some larger investors  to understand and address  their
expectaDons in terms of board governance, recruitment and divers i ty. P rior to AGMs,
the Company engages  with these agencies  to fact check their advisory reports  and
clari fy any areas  or topics  contained within the report. This  ensures  that whi lst the
proxy advisory reports  provided to shareholders  are objecDve and independent, the
Company's  actions  and intentions  are represented as  clearly as  poss ible to ass ist with
shareholders ' decis ion making when cons idering the resolutions  proposed at the AGM.
 

AIC The Company is  a  member of the AI C  and has  supported lobbying acDviDes.
RepresentaDves  of the Manager s i t on a variety of forums run by the AI C  which aids
development and understanding of new pol icies  and procedures. The Directors  may
cast votes  in the AIC Board Elections  each year and regularly attend AIC events .

Approved by the Board on 12 December 2024
By order of the Board
 
TRACEY LAGO, FCG
Polar Capital  Secretaria l  Services  Limited
Company Secretary
 
 
 
Statement of Directors' Responsibilities
The Directors  are responsible for preparing the Annual  Report and the financial  s tatements  in accordance with
appl icable law and regulations.
 
Company law requires  the Directors  to prepare F inancial  Statements  for each financial  year. Under that law the
Directors  have prepared the Company's  F inancial  Statements  in accordance with UK-adopted I AS and appl icable law.
AddiDonal ly, the F inancial  Conduct Authori ty's  D isclosure Guidance and Transparency Rules  require the directors  to
prepare the Financial  Statements  in accordance with UK-adopted IAS.
 
Under company law the directors  must not approve the F inancial  Statements  unless  they are saDsfied that they give a
true and fa ir view of the state of affairs  of the Company and of the profit or loss  of the Company for that period. I n
preparing the financial  s tatements , the directors  are required to:
 

·   select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
·  state whether they have been prepared in accordance with UK-adopted IAS, subject to any material departures

disclosed and explained in the Financial Statements;
·   make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and
·   prepare the Financial Statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Company

will continue in business.
 

The Directors  are responsible for keeping adequate accounDng records  that are sufficient to show and explain the
Company's  transacDons and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any Dme the financial  pos iDon of the Company and
enable them to ensure that the F inancial  Statements  and the Directors ' RemuneraDon Report comply with the Companies
Act 2006. They are responsible for such internal  controls  as  they determine is  necessary to enable the preparaDon of
Financial  Statements  that are free from materia l  misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and have general



Financial  Statements  that are free from materia l  misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and have general
responsibi l i ty for taking such steps  as  are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets  of the Company and to
prevent and detect fraud and other i rregulari ties .
 
Under appl icable law and regulaDons, the Directors  are a lso responsible for preparing a  Strategic Report, D irectors '
Report, D irectors ' RemuneraDon Report and Corporate Governance Statement that comply with that law and those
regulations.
 
The Directors  are responsible for the maintenance and integri ty of the corporate and financial  informaDon included on
the company's  website. Legis laDon in the UK  governing the preparaDon and disseminaDon of financial  s tatements  may
differ from legis lation in other jurisdictions.
 
Directors' Confirmations
The Directors  cons ider that the annual  report and financial  s tatements , taken as  a  whole, i s  fa i r, balanced and
understandable and provides  the informaDon necessary for shareholders  to assess  the Company's  pos iDon and
performance, bus iness  model  and strategy.
 
Each of the directors , whose names and funcDons are l i s ted in the Strategic Report confirm that, to the best of their
knowledge:
 

·     the Company Financial Statements, which have been prepared in accordance with the applicable set of accounting
standards, give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit/loss of the company;

·    the Strategic Report includes a fair review of the development and performance of the business and the position of
the Company, together with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties that it faces.

 
In the case of each Director in office at the date the Directors' Report is approved:
 

·    so far as the director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company's auditors are unaware;
and

·    they have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a director in order to make themselves aware of any
relevant audit information and to establish that the Company's auditors are aware of that information.

 
Lisa Arnold
Cha i r

 

12 December 2024
 

 
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 30 September 2024

 Note

  

Year ended
30 September 2024

Year ended
30 September 2023

Revenue
return

£'000

Capital return

£'000

Total

return

£'000

Revenue
return

£'000

Capital return

£'000

Total

return

£'000

Ga i ns  on i nve s tme nts  he l d a t fa i r
va l ue

5 - 63,240 63,240 - 19,574 19,574

Inve s tme nt i ncome 3 5,369 - 5,369 4,804 - 4,804

Othe r ope ra ti ng i ncome 4 122 - 122 104 - 104

Othe r curre ncy ga i ns /(l os s e s ) 6 - 281 281 - (1,130) (1,130)

Total income 5,491 63,521 69,012 4,908 18,444 23,352

Expenses

Inve s tme nt ma na ge me nt fe e 7 (687) (2,747) (3,434) (650) (2,598) (3,248)

Othe r a dmi ni s tra ti ve  e xpe ns e s 8 (833) (100) (933) (712) (13) (725)

Total expenses  (1,520) (2,847) (4,367) (1,362) (2,611) (3,973)

    

Profit before finance costs and tax 3,971 60,674 64,645 3,546 15,833 19,379

Fi na nce  cos ts 9 (14) (882) (896) (9) (1,161) (1,170)

   

Profit before tax 3,957 59,792 63,749 3,537 14,672 18,209

Ta x 10 (708) (240) (948) (598) (715) (1,313)

Net profit for the year and total
comprehensive income

3,249 59,552 62,801 2,939 13,957 16,896

Earnings per Ordinary share (pence) 12 2.68 49.11 51.79 2.42 11.51 13.93

 
The total  column of this  statement represents  Company's  Statement of Comprehensive I ncome, prepared in accordance with



The total  column of this  statement represents  Company's  Statement of Comprehensive I ncome, prepared in accordance with

UK adopted International  Accounting Standards.

 
The revenue return and capital  return columns are supplementary to this  and are prepared under guidance publ ished by
the Association of Investment Companies .
 
The Company does  not have any other income or expense that i s  not included in net profit for the year. The net profit for the
year disclosed above represents  the Company's  total  comprehensive income.
 
There are no di lutive securi ties  and therefore the Earnings  per Share and the Di luted Earnings  per share are the same.
 
Al l  revenue and capital  i tems in the above statement derive from conDnuing operaDons. No operaDons were acquired or
discontinued in the year.
 
The notes  below form part of these Financial  Statements .

 
 
 

 
STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 30 September 2024

 

 Note

Year ended 30 September 2024

Called up
share capital

£'000

Capital
redemption

reserve
£'000

Share
premium

reserve
£'000

Special
distributable

reserve
£'000

Capital
reserves

£'000

Revenue
reserve

£'000

Total
Equity
£'000

Total equity at 1 October
2023

31,037 6,575 80,685 3,672 294,748 2,465 419,182

Total comprehensive
income:

Profi t for the  ye a r e nde d
30 Se pte mbe r 2024

- - - - 59,552 3,249 62,801

Transactions with owners,
recorded directly to equity:

Equi ty di vi de nds
pa i d

11 - - - - - (2,910) (2,910)

Total equity at
30 September 2024

31,037 6,575 80,685 3,672 354,300 2,804 479,073

 

 Note

Year ended 30 September 2023

Called up share
capital

£'000

Capital
redemption

reserve
£'000

Share
premium

reserve
£'000

Special
distributable

reserve
£'000

Capital
reserves

£'000

Revenue
reserve

£'000
Total Equity

£'000

Total equity at 1 October 2022 31,037 6,575 80,685 3,672 280,791 2,073 404,833

Total comprehensive income:

Profi t for the  ye a r e nde d 30
Se pte mbe r 2023

- - - - 13,957 2,939 16,896

Transactions with owners,
recorded directly to equity:

Equi ty di vi de nds
pa i d

11 - - - - - (2,547) (2,547)

Total equity at
30 September 2023

31,037 6,575 80,685 3,672 294,748 2,465 419,182

 
The notes  below form part of these Financial  Statements .
 

   
 
 
 
 

 
BALANCE SHEET
As at 30 September 2024

 



Notes

 

30 September 2024

£'000

30 September 2023

£'000

Non-current assets

Inve s tme nts  he l d a t fa i r va l ue 13 474,136 458,255

Inve s tme nt i n s ubs i di a ry 13 - 50

 

Current assets  

Ca s h a nd ca s h e qui va l e nts 16 9,552 4,630

Ove rs e a s  ta x re cove ra bl e 842 678

Re ce i va bl e s 180 505

10,574 5,813

Total assets 484,710 464,118

 

Current liabilities  

Pa ya bl e s (5,263) (3,981)

Ba nk ove rdra ft 16 (374) (2,014)

Loa n from s ubs i di a ry - (38,687)

(5,637) (44,682)

Non-current liabilities  

Indi a n ca pi ta l  ga i ns  ta x provi s i on - (254)

Total liabilities (5,637) (44,936)

  

Net assets 479,073 419,182

  

Equity attributable to equity Shareholders  

Ca l l e d up s ha re  ca pi ta l 14 31,037 31,037

Sha re  pre mi um re s e rve 80,685 80,685

Ca pi ta l  Re de mpti on re s e rve 6,575 6,575

Spe ci a l  di s tri buta bl e  re s e rve 3,672 3,672

Ca pi ta l  re s e rve s 354,300 294,748

Re ve nue  re s e rve 2,804 2,465

Total equity 479,073 419,182

  

Ne t a s s e t va l ue  pe r Ordi na ry s ha re
(pe nce ) 15

395.05 345.66

 
The Financial  Statements  were approved and authorised for i ssue by the Board of Directors  on 12 December 2024 and
signed on i ts  behal f by
 
Lisa Arnold
Chair

 
The notes  below form part of these Financial  Statements .
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CASH FLOW STATEMENTS
For the year ended 30 September 2024

 
 

Note

Year ended

30 September 2024

£'000

Year ended

30 September 2023

£'000

Cash flows from operating activities

Profi t be fore  fi na nce  cos ts  a nd ta x 64,645 19,379

Adjus tme nt for non-ca s h i te ms :  

Ga i ns  on i nve s tme nts  he l d a t fa i r va l ue  through profi t or l os s (63,240) (19,574)

Adjusted profit/(loss) before tax 1,405 (195)

 

Adjus tme nts  for:  



Purcha s e s  of i nve s tme nts , i ncl udi ng tra ns a cti on cos ts (688,173) (503,002)

Sa l e s  of i nve s tme nts , i ncl udi ng tra ns a cti on cos ts 737,080 501,992

De cre a s e /(i ncre a s e ) i n re ce i va bl e s 325 (272)

(De cre a s e )/i ncre a s e  i n pa ya bl e s (266) 259

Indi a n ca pi ta l  ga i ns  ta x (494) (461)

Ove rs e a s  ta x de ducte d a t s ource (872) (610)

Net cash generated from/(used in) operating activities 49,005 (2,289)

 

Cash flows from financing activities  

Re de mpti on of ZDP s ha re hol de rs (39,515) -

Inte re s t pa i d (68) (44)

Equi ty di vi de nds  pa i d 11 (2,910) (2,547)

Net cash used in financing activities (42,493) (2,591)

  

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 6,512 (4,880)

  

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 2,666 7,546

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 16 9,178 2,666

 
The notes  below form part of these Financial  Statements .
 

 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 30 September 2024

 

1.     General Information
The  Fi na nci a l  Sta te me nts  for the  ye a r e nde d 30 Se pte mbe r 2024 compri s e  the  Fi na nci a l  Sta te me nts  of the  Compa ny.
On 19 June  2024, the  Compa ny's  onl y s ubs i di a ry, PCGH ZDP pl c, wa s  pl a ce d i nto l i qui da Don fol l owi ng the  ful l
re pa yme nt of the  l oa n owe d to i t by the  Compa ny a nd the  re de mpDon of the  ZDP s ha re s . As  a  re s ul t of thi s ,
cons ol i da te d fina nci a l  s ta te me nts  a re  no l onge r ne ce s s a ry a s  the  s ubs i di a ry's  fina nci a l  i nforma Don i s  de e me d
i mma te ri a l  to the  ove ra l l  fi na nci a l  pos i ti on of the  Compa ny.
 
The  pri nci pa l  a cDvi ty of the  Compa ny i s  tha t of a n i nve s tme nt trus t compa ny wi thi n the  me a ni ng of Se cDon
1158/1159 of the  Corpora ti on Ta x Act 2010 a nd i ts  i nve s tme nt a pproa ch i s  de ta i l e d i n the  Stra te gi c Re port.
 
The  Compa ny's  pre s e nta Dona l  curre ncy i s  pounds  s te rl i ng (rounde d to the  ne a re s t £'000). Pounds  s te rl i ng i s  a l s o
the  funcDona l  curre ncy of the  Compa ny, be ca us e  i t i s  the  curre ncy whi ch i s  mos t re l e va nt to the  ma jori ty of the
Compa ny's  s ha re hol de rs  a nd cre di tors  a nd the  curre ncy i n whi ch the  ma jori ty of the  Compa ny's  ope ra Dng e xpe ns e s
a re  pa i d.

 
2.     Accounting Policies

The  ma te ri a l  a ccounDng pol i cy i nforma Don a nd othe r e xpl a na tory i nforma Don ha ve  be e n a ppl i e d cons i s te ntl y for
a l l  ye a rs  pre s e nte d a re  s e t out be l ow:
 

(a)   Basis of Preparation
 
The  Compa ny's  Fi na nci a l  Sta te me nts  ha ve  be e n pre pa re d a nd a pprove d by the  Di re ctors  i n a ccorda nce  wi th UK-
a dopte d i nte rna Dona l  a ccounDng s ta nda rds  ("UK-a dopte d IAS") a nd wi th the  re qui re me nts  of the  Compa ni e s  Act
2006.
 
The  Fi na nci a l  Sta te me nts  ha ve  be e n pre pa re d on a  goi ng conce rn ba s i s  unde r the  hi s tori ca l  cos t conve nDon, a s
modi fi e d by the  re va l ua ti on of i nve s tme nts  a nd de ri va ti ve  fi na nci a l  i ns trume nts  a t fa i r va l ue  through profi t or l os s .
 
Whe re  pre s e nta Dona l  gui da nce  s e t out i n the  Sta te me nt of Re comme nde d Pra cDce  (SORP) for i nve s tme nt trus ts
i s s ue d by the  As s oci a Don of Inve s tme nt Compa ni e s  (AIC) i n Jul y 2022 i s  cons i s te nt wi th the  re qui re me nts  of UK-
a dopte d IAS, the  Di re ctors  ha ve  s ought to pre pa re  the  Fi na nci a l  Sta te me nts  on a  ba s i s  compl i a nt wi th the
re comme nda ti ons  of the  SORP.
 
The  fina nci a l  pos i Don of the  Compa ny a s  a t 30 Se pte mbe r 2024 i s  s hown i n the  Annua l  Re port. As  a t 30 Se pte mbe r
2024 the  Compa ny's  tota l  a s s e ts  e xce e de d i ts  tota l  l i a bi l i De s  by a  mul Dpl e  of ove r 85. The  a s s e ts  of the  Compa ny
cons i s t ma i nl y of s e curi De s  tha t a re  he l d i n a ccorda nce  wi th the  Compa ny's  Inve s tme nt Pol i cy, a nd the s e  s e curi De s
a re  re a di l y re a l i s a bl e . The  Di re ctors  ha ve  cons i de re d a  de ta i l e d a s s e s s me nt of the  Compa ny's  a bi l i ty to me e t i ts
l i a bi l i De s  a s  the y fa l l  due . The  a s s e s s me nt took a ccount of the  Compa ny's  curre nt fina nci a l  pos i Don, i ts  ca s h flow
a nd i ts  l i qui di ty pos i Don. In l i ght of the  re s ul ts  of the s e  te s ts , the  Compa ny's  ca s h ba l a nce s , a nd the  l i qui di ty
pos i Dons , the  Di re ctors  cons i de r tha t the  Compa ny ha s  a de qua te  fina nci a l  re s ource s  to e na bl e  i t to conDnue  i n
ope ra ti ona l  e xi s te nce  for a  pe ri od of 12 months  from the  a pprova l  of the s e  fi na nci a l  s ta te me nts .
 
Pe r the  Compa ny's  ArDcl e s  of As s oci a Don, the re  woul d be  a  re qui re me nt for a  s pe ci a l  re s ol uDon for the  wi ndi ng-up
of the  Compa ny to be  propos e d to the  s ha re hol de rs  a t the  firs t AGM to ta ke  pl a ce  a t a Pe r 1 Ma rch 2025 unl e s s
a l te rna Dve  re cons trucDon propos a l s  ha ve  be e n a pprove d by the  s ha re hol de rs  pri or to tha t da te . Al though ta ki ng
pl a ce  more  tha n 12 months  a Pe r the  s i gni ng da te  of the  2024 a nnua l  re port a nd fina nci a l  s ta te me nts , i t i s  re l e va nt
to cons i de r thi s  a s  pa rt of the  goi ng conce rn a s s e s s me nt. Shoul d a  l i qui da Don re s ol uDon be  propos e d to the  AGM
a nd a  s i ngl e  vote  be  ca s t i n fa vour, i rre s pe cti ve  of the  pe rforma nce  of the  trus t, the  re s ol uti on wi l l
pa s s  a nd the  Compa ny be  pl a ce d i nto l i qui da Don. The re fore , i t ha s  be e n concl ude d tha t a  ma te ri a l  unce rta i nty
e xi s ts  i n re l a Don to goi ng conce rn s urroundi ng the  l i qui da Don vote  whi ch ma y ca s t s i gni fica nt doubt on the
Compa ny's  a bi l i ty to conti nue  a s  a  goi ng conce rn.
 
Howe ve r, s ubje ct to cons ul ta Don wi th s ha re hol de rs  a nd a dvi s ors , the  Di re ctors  i nte nd to re vi e w a l te rna Dve
re cons trucDon propos a l s  duri ng 2025. On the  a s s umpDon tha t the s e  de l i be ra Dons  re s ul t i n a l te rna Dve  re s ol uDons



re cons trucDon propos a l s  duri ng 2025. On the  a s s umpDon tha t the s e  de l i be ra Dons  re s ul t i n a l te rna Dve  re s ol uDons
be i ng put to a nd a pprove d by s ha re hol de rs , a  l i qui da Don re s ol uDon woul d not be  re qui re d. As  s uch, the  Boa rd
concl ude d tha t i t re ma i ne d a ppropri a te  to conti nue  to pre pa re  the  fi na nci a l  s ta te me nts  on a  goi ng conce rn ba s i s .
 
The  fina nci a l  s ta te me nts  do not i ncl ude  the  a djus tme nts  tha t woul d re s ul t i f the  Compa ny we re  una bl e  to conDnue
a s  a  goi ng conce rn.
 

(b)   Presentation of the Statement of Comprehensive Income
I n order to beIer reflect the acDviDes  of an investment trust company and in accordance with the guidance set out
by the AI C, supplementary informaDon which analyses  the Statement of Comprehensive I ncome between i tems of a
revenue and capital  nature has  been presented alongs ide the Statement of Comprehensive I ncome. The results
presented in the revenue return column is  the measure the Directors  bel ieve appropriate in assess ing the
Company's  compl iance with certain requirements  set out in section 1158 of the Corporation Tax Act 2010.
 

(c)    Income
Dividends receivable from equity shares  are recognised and taken to the revenue return column of the Statement of
Comprehensive Income on an ex-dividend bas is .
 
Special  dividends are recognised on an ex-dividend bas is  and may be cons idered to be ei ther revenue or capital
i tems. The facts  and ci rcumstances  are cons idered on a case by case bas is  before a  conclus ion on appropriate
al location is  reached.
 
W here the Company has  received dividends in the form of addiDonal  shares  rather than in cash, the amount of the
cash dividend foregone is  recognised in the revenue return column of the Statement of Comprehensive I ncome. Any
excess  in value of shares  received over the amount of the cash dividend foregone is  recognised in the capital
return column of the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
 
Bank interest i s  accounted for on an accruals  bas is . I nterest outstanding at the year end is  calculated on a Dme
apportionment bas is  us ing market rates  of interest.
 

(d)   Written Options
The Company may write exchange-traded opDons with a  view to generaDng income. This  involves  wriDng short-
dated covered-cal l  options  and put options. The use of financial  derivatives  is  governed by the Company's  pol icies ,
as  approved by the Board.
 
These opDons are recorded iniDal ly at fa i r value, based on the premium income received, and are then measured
at subsequent reporDng dates  at fa i r value. Changes  in the fa ir value of the opDons are recognised in the capital
return for the period.
 
The opDon premiums are recognised evenly over the l i fe of the opDon and shown in the revenue return, with an
appropriate amount shown in the capital  return to ensure the total  return reflects  the overal l  change in the fa ir
value of the options.
 
W here an opDon is  exercised, any balance of the premium is  recognised immediately in the revenue return with a
corresponding adjustment in the capital  return based on the amount of the loss  aris ing on exercise of the option.
 

(e)   Expenses
Al l  e xpe ns e s , i ncl udi ng the  ma na ge me nt fe e , a re  a ccounte d for on a n a ccrua l s  ba s i s  a nd a re  re cogni s e d whe n the y
fa l l  due .
 
Al l  e xpe ns e s  ha ve  be e n pre s e nte d a s  re ve nue  i te ms  e xce pt a s  fol l ows :
 
Expe ns e s  a re  cha rge d to the  ca pi ta l  col umn of the  Sta te me nt of Compre he ns i ve  Income  whe re  a  conne cDon wi th
the  ma i nte na nce  or e nha nce me nt of the  va l ue  of i nve s tme nts  ca n be  de mons tra te d. In thi s  re s pe ct the  i nve s tme nt
ma na ge me nt fe e s  ha ve  be e n cha rge d to the  Sta te me nt of Compre he ns i ve  Income  i n l i ne  wi th the  Boa rd's  e xpe cte d
l ong-te rm s pl i t of re turns , i n the  form of ca pi ta l  ga i ns  a nd i ncome  from the  Compa ny's  por?ol i o. As  a  re s ul t 20% of
the  i nve s tme nt ma na ge me nt fe e s  a re  cha rge d to the  re ve nue  a ccount a nd 80% cha rge d to the  ca pi ta l  a ccount of the
Sta te me nt of Compre he ns i ve  Income .
 
The  pe rforma nce  fe e  (whe n pa ya bl e ) i s  cha rge d e nDre l y to ca pi ta l  a s  the  fe e  i s  ba s e d on the  out-pe rforma nce  of
the  Be nchma rk a nd i s  e xpe cte d to be  a ttri buta bl e  l a rge l y, i f not whol l y, to ca pi ta l  pe rforma nce .
 
The  re s e a rch cos ts  re l a te  s ol e l y to s pe ci a l i s t he a l thca re  re s e a rch a nd a re  a ccounte d for on a n a ccrua l  ba s i s  a nd,
a re  a l l oca te d 20% to re ve nue  a nd 80% ca pi ta l . Thi s  i s  i n l i ne  wi th the  Boa rd's  e xpe cte d l ong-te rm s pl i t of re ve nue
a nd ca pi ta l  re turn from the  Compa ny's  i nve s tme nt portfol i o.
 
Finance costs
The  ZDP s ha re s  we re  de s i gne d to provi de  a  pre -de te rmi ne d ca pi ta l  growth from the i r ori gi na l  i s s ue  pri ce  of 100p on
20 June  2017 to a  fina l  ca pi ta l  re pa yme nt of 122.99p on 19 June  2024. The  i ni Da l  ca pi ta l  i ncre a s e d a t a  compound
i nte re s t ra te  of 3% pe r a nnum.
 
On 19 June  2024, the  s ubs i di a ry PCGH ZDP pl c wa s  pl a ce d i nto l i qui da Don fol l owi ng the  re pa yme nt of the  l oa n tha t
i t ha d a dva nce d to the  Compa ny a nd the  re de mpti on of the  ZDP s ha re hol de rs .
 
No di vi de nds  we re  pa ya bl e  on the  ZDP s ha re s . The  provi s i on for the  ca pi ta l  growth e nDtl e me nt of the  ZDP s ha re s  i s
i ncl ude d a s  a  fina nce  cos t a nd cha rge d 100% to ca pi ta l  wi thi n the  Sta te me nt of Compre he ns i ve  Income  (AIC SORP
pa ra gra ph 53 - i s s ue d Jul y 2022).
 
Ove rdra ft i nte re s t cos ts  a re  a l l oca te d 20% to re ve nue  a nd 80% to ca pi ta l  i n l i ne  wi th the  Boa rd's  e xpe cte d l ong-te rm
s pl i t of re ve nue  a nd ca pi ta l  re turn from the  Compa ny's  i nve s tme nt portfol i o.
 
Share issue costs
Cos ts  i ncurre d di re ctl y i n re l a ti on to the  i s s ue  of s ha re s  i n the  s ubs i di a ry a re  borne  by the  Compa ny a nd ta ke n 100%
to ca pi ta l . Sha re  i s s ue  cos ts  re l a Dng to ordi na ry s ha re  i s s ue s  by the  Compa ny a re  ta ke n 100% to the  s ha re  pre mi um
a ccount.
 
Zero Dividend Preference (ZDP) shares
Shares  issued by the subs idiary were treated as  a  l iabi l i ty and were shown in the Balance Sheet at their
redempDon value at the Balance Sheet date. The appropriaDons in respect of the ZD P  shares  necessary to increase
the subs idiary's  l iabi l iDes  to the redempDon values  were al located to capital  in the Statement of Comprehensive
Income. The ZDP shares  were ful ly repaid and redeemed during the year on 19 June 2024.



 
(f)    Taxation

The tax expense represents  the sum of the overseas  withholding tax deducted from investment income, tax
currently payable and deferred tax.
 
The tax currently payable is  based on the taxable profits  for the year ended 30 September 2024. Taxable profit
differs  from net profit as  reported in the Statement of Comprehensive I ncome because i t excludes  i tems of income
or expense that are taxable or deducDble in other years  and i t further excludes  i tems that are never taxable or
deducDble. The Company's  l iabi l i ty for current tax is  calculated us ing tax rates  that have been enacted or
substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.
 
I n l ine with the recommendaDons of the S O R P, the al locaDon method used to calculate tax rel ief on expenses
presented against capital  returns  in the supplementary informaDon in the Statement of Comprehensive I ncome is
the "marginal  bas is". Under this  bas is , i f taxable income is  capable of being offset enDrely by expenses  presented
in the revenue return column of the Statement of Comprehensive I ncome, then no tax rel ief i s  transferred to the
capital  return column.
 
Deferred tax is  the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on temporary differences  between the carrying
amounts  of assets  and l iabi l iDes  in the financial  s tatements  and the corresponding tax bases  used in the
computaDon of taxable profit, and is  accounted for us ing the balance sheet l iabi l i ty method. Deferred tax
l iabi l iDes  are recognised for a l l  taxable temporary differences  and deferred tax assets  are recognised to the extent
that i t i s  probable that taxable profits  wi l l  be avai lable against which deducDble temporary differences  can be
uti l i sed.
 
I nvestment trusts  which have approval  as  such under secDon 1158 of the CorporaDon Taxes  Act 2010 are not
l iable for taxation on capital  gains .
 
The Company is  l iable to I ndian capital  gains  tax under SecDon 115 AD of the I ndian I ncome Tax Act 1961. The
I ndian capital  gains  tax provis ion represents  an esDmate of the amount of tax payable by the Company. Tax
amounts  payable may differ from this  provis ion depending on when the Company disposes  of i ts  investments . The
current provis ion for I ndian capital  gains  tax is  calculated based on the long term (securiDes  held more than one
year) or short term (securiDes  held less  than one year) nature of the investments  and the appl icable tax rate at the
year end. W ith effect from 23 July 2024, the short-term tax rate is  20% (previous ly 15%) and the long-term tax rate
is  12.5% (previous ly 10%). The esDmated tax charge is  subject to regular review including a  cons ideraDon of the
l ikely period of ownership, tax rates  and market valuaDon movements . The provis ion at the year end is  recognised
in the Balance Sheet and the year-on-year movement in the provis ion is  recognised in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income.
 
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets  i s  reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that i t
i s  no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits  wi l l  be avai lable to a l low al l  or part of the asset to be
recovered.
 
Deferred tax is  calculated at the tax rates  that are expected to apply in the period when the l iabi l i ty i s  seIled or
the asset i s  real ised based on tax rates  that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.
 
Deferred tax is  charged or credited in the Statement of Comprehensive I ncome, except when i t relates  to i tems
charged or credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is  a lso dealt with in equity.

 
(g)   Investments Held at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss

Whe n a  purcha s e  or s a l e  i s  ma de  unde r contra ct, the  te rms  of whi ch re qui re  de l i ve ry wi thi n the  Dme fra me  of the
re l e va nt ma rke t, the  i nve s tme nts  conce rne d a re  re cogni s e d or de re cogni s e d on the  tra de  da te  a nd a re  i ni Da l l y
me a s ure d a t fa i r va l ue .
 
On i ni Da l  re cogni Don the  Compa ny ha s  de s i gna te d a l l  of i ts  i nve s tme nts  a s  he l d a t fa i r va l ue  through profit or l os s
a s  de fine d by UK-a dopte d IAS. Al l  i nve s tme nts  a re  me a s ure d a t s ubs e que nt re porDng da te s  a t fa i r va l ue , whi ch i s
e i the r the  bi d pri ce  or the  l a s t tra de d pri ce , de pe ndi ng on the  conve nDon of the  e xcha nge  on whi ch the  i nve s tme nt
i s  quote d.
 
Al l  i nve s tme nts , cl a s s i fie d a s  fa i r va l ue  through profit or l os s , a re  furthe r ca te gori s e d i nto the  fol l owi ng fa i r va l ue
hi e ra rchy:
 
Le ve l  1: Una djus te d pri ce s  quote d i n a cti ve  ma rke ts  for i de nti ca l  a s s e ts  a nd l i a bi l i ti e s .
 
Le ve l  2: Ha vi ng i nputs  othe r tha n quote d pri ce s  i ncl ude d wi thi n Le ve l  1 tha t a re  obs e rva bl e  for the  a s s e t or l i a bi l i ty,
e i the r di re ctl y (i .e . a s  pri ce s ) or i ndi re ctl y (i .e . de ri ve d from pri ce s ).
 
Le ve l  3: Ha vi ng i nputs  for the  a s s e t or l i a bi l i ty tha t a re  not ba s e d on obs e rva bl e  ma rke t da ta .
 
Cha nge s  i n fa i r va l ue  of a l l  i nve s tme nts  he l d a t fa i r va l ue  a nd re a l i s e d ga i ns  a nd l os s e s  on di s pos a l  a re
re cogni s e d i n the  ca pi ta l  re turn col umn of the  Sta te me nt of Compre he ns i ve  Income .
 
In the  e ve nt a  s e curi ty he l d wi thi n the  por?ol i o i s  s us pe nde d the n judge me nt i s  a ppl i e d i n the  va l ua Don of tha t
s e curi ty.

 
(h)   Receivables

Re ce i va bl e s  a re  i ni Da l l y re cogni s e d a t fa i r va l ue  a nd s ubs e que ntl y me a s ure d a t a morDs e d cos t. Re ce i va bl e s  do
not ca rry a ny i nte re s t a nd a re  s hort-te rm i n na ture  a nd a re  a ccordi ngl y s ta te d a t the i r nomi na l  va l ue  (a morDs e d
cos t) a s  re duce d by a ppropri a te  a l l owa nce s  for e s ti ma te d i rre cove ra bl e  a mounts .
 

(i)    Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash comprises  cash on hand and demand deposits . Cash equivalents  are short-term, maturi ty of three months  or
less , highly l iquid investments  that are readi ly convertible to known amounts  of cash.

 
(j)    Dividends Payable

Dividends payable to shareholders  are recognised in the F inancial  Statements  when they are paid or, in the case of
final  dividends, when they are approved by the shareholders .
 

(k)   Payables
O ther payables  are not interest-bearing and are iniDal ly valued at fa i r value and subsequently stated at their



O ther payables  are not interest-bearing and are iniDal ly valued at fa i r value and subsequently stated at their
nominal  value (amortised cost).
 

(l)    Foreign Currency Translation
Tra ns a cDons  i n fore i gn curre nci e s  a re  tra ns l a te d i nto s te rl i ng a t the  ra te  of e xcha nge  rul i ng on the  da te  of e a ch
tra ns a cDon. Mone ta ry a s s e ts , mone ta ry l i a bi l i De s  a nd e qui ty i nve s tme nts  i n fore i gn curre nci e s  a t the  ba l a nce
s he e t da te  a re  tra ns l a te d i nto s te rl i ng a t the  ra te s  of e xcha nge  rul i ng on tha t da te . Re a l i s e d profits  or l os s e s  on
e xcha nge , toge the r wi th di ffe re nce s  a ri s i ng on the  tra ns l a Don of fore i gn curre ncy a s s e ts  or l i a bi l i De s , a re  ta ke n to
the  ca pi ta l  re turn col umn of the  Sta te me nt of Compre he ns i ve  Income .
 
Fore i gn e xcha nge  ga i ns  a nd l os s e s  a ri s i ng on i nve s tme nts  he l d a t fa i r va l ue  a re  i ncl ude d wi thi n cha nge s  i n fa i r
va l ue .

 
(m)  Capital Reserves

Ca pi ta l  re s e rve  a ri s i ng on i nve s tme nts  s ol d i ncl ude s :
 

·      ga i ns /l os s e s  on di s pos a l  of i nve s tme nts
·      e xcha nge  di ffe re nce s  on curre ncy ba l a nce s
·      tra ns fe r to s ubs i di a ry i n re l a ti on to ZDP fundi ng re qui re me nt
·      othe r ca pi ta l  cha rge s  a nd cre di ts  cha rge d to thi s  a ccount i n a ccorda nce  wi th the  a ccounti ng pol i ci e s  a bove .

 
Ca pi ta l  re s e rve  a ri s i ng on i nve s tme nts  he l d i ncl ude s :
 

·      i ncre a s e s  a nd de cre a s e s  i n the  va l ua ti on of i nve s tme nts  he l d a t the  ba l a nce  s he e t da te .
 
Al l  of the  a bove  a re  a ccounte d for i n the  Sta te me nt of Compre he ns i ve  Income .
 
W hen making a  distribuDon to shareholders , the Directors  determining the profits  avai lable for distribuDon by
reference to the 'Guidance on real ised and distributable profits  under the Companies  Act 2006' i ssued by the
I nsDtute of Chartered Accountants  of England & Wales  and the I nsDtute of Chartered Accountants  of Scotland in
Apri l  2017. The avai labi l i ty of distributable reserves  in the Company is  dependent on those dividends meeDng the
definiDon of qual i fying cons ideraDon within the guidance and on the avai lable cash resources  of the Company
and other access ible sources  of funds. The distributable reserves  are therefore subject to any future restricDons or
l imitations  at the time such distribution is  made.

 
(n)   Repurchase of Ordinary Shares (Including Those Held in Treasury)

The costs  of repurchas ing O rdinary shares  including related stamp duty and transacDon costs  are taken directly
to equity and reported through the Statement of Changes  in Equity as  a  charge on the special  distributable reserve.
Share repurchase transactions  are accounted for on a trade date bas is .
 
The nominal  value of O rdinary share capital  repurchased and cancel led is  transferred out of cal led up share
capital  and into the capital  redemption reserve.
 
W here shares  are repurchased and held in treasury, the transfer to capital  redempDon reserve is  made i f and
when such shares  are subsequently cancel led.
 

(o)   Segmental Reporting
Unde r IFRS 8, 'Ope ra Dng Se gme nts ', ope ra Dng s e gme nts  a re  cons i de re d to be  the  compone nts  of a n e nDty a bout
whi ch s e pa ra te  fina nci a l  i nforma Don i s  a va i l a bl e  tha t i s  e va l ua te d re gul a rl y by the  chi e f ope ra Dng de ci s i on ma ke r
i n de ci di ng how to a l l oca te  re s ource s  a nd i n a s s e s s i ng pe rforma nce . The  chi e f ope ra Dng de ci s i on ma ke r ha s  be e n
i de nti fi e d a s  the  Inve s tme nt Ma na ge r (wi th ove rs i ght from the  boa rd).
 
The  Di re ctors  a re  of the  opi ni on tha t the  Compa ny ha s  onl y one  ope ra Dng s e gme nt a nd a s  s uch no di s Dnct
s e gme nta l  re porti ng i s  re qui re d.
 

(p)   Key Estimates and judgements
Es Dma te s  a nd a s s umpDons  us e d i n pre pa ri ng the  Fi na nci a l  Sta te me nts  a re  re vi e we d on a n ongoi ng ba s i s  a nd a re
ba s e d on hi s tori ca l  e xpe ri e nce  a nd va ri ous  othe r fa ctors  tha t a re  be l i e ve d to be  re a s ona bl e  unde r the
ci rcums ta nce s . The  re s ul ts  of the s e  e s Dma te s  a nd a s s umpDons  form the  ba s i s  of ma ki ng judge me nts  a bout
ca rryi ng va l ue s  of a s s e ts  a nd l i a bi l i De s  tha t a re  not re a di l y a ppa re nt from othe r s ource s . The  Compa ny do not
cons i de r tha t the re  ha ve  be e n a ny s i gni fi ca nt e s ti ma te s  or a s s umpti ons  i n the  curre nt fi na nci a l  ye a r.
 

(q)   New and revised accounting Standards
 
There were no new UK-adopted I AS or amendments  to UK-adopted I AS appl icable to the current year which had any
s igni ficant impact on the Company's  Financial  Statements .
 
i ) The fol lowing new or amended standards  became effecDve for the current annual  reporDng period and the
adopDon of the standards  and interpretaDons have not had a materia l  impact on the F inancial  Statements  of the
Company.
 

 
Standards & Interpretations  EffecCve for

periods
commencing on or
after

Disclosure of AccounDng
Pol icies  (Amendments  to IAS 1
and I F RS P racDce Statement
2)

Requirement amended to disclose materia l  accounDng
pol icies  instead of s ignificant accounDng pol icies  and
provided guidance in making materia l i ty judgements  to
accounting pol icy disclosure.
 

1 January 2023

DefiniDon of AccounDng
EsDmates  (amendments  to I AS
8)

I ntroduced the definiDon of accounDng esDmates  and
included other amendments  to I AS 8 to help enDDes
disDnguish changes  in accounDng esDmates  from
changes  in accounting pol icy.

1 January 2023

I nternaDonal  Tax Reform -
Pi l lar
Two Model  Rules
(Amendments  to IAS 12)

A mandatory temporary excepDon to the accounDng for
deferred taxes  aris ing from the jurisdicDonal
implementaDon of the P i l lar Two model  rules ; and
disclosure requirements  for affected enDDes to help
users  of the financial  s tatements  beIer understand an

1 January 2023



users  of the financial  s tatements  beIer understand an
enDty's  exposure to P i l lar Two income taxes  aris ing from
that legis lation, particularly before i ts  effective date.

 
i i ) At the  da te  of a uthori s a ti on of the  Compa ny's  Fi na nci a l  Sta te me nts , the  fol l owi ng re l e va nt s ta nda rds  tha t
pote nti a l l y i mpa ct the  Compa ny a re  i n i s s ue  but a re  not ye t e ffe cti ve  a nd ha ve  not be e n a ppl i e d i n the  Fi na nci a l
Sta te me nts .
 
Standards & Interpretations  EffecCve for

periods
commencing on or
after

Amendments  to I AS 1
P resentaDon of F inancial
Statements
-Non-current l iabi l iDes  with
Covenants
-Deferral  of EffecDve Date
Amendment (publ ished 15
July 2020)
Class i fication of Liabi l i ties  as
Current or Non-Current
(Amendments  to I AS 1)
(publ icised 23 January 2020)

The amendments  clari fy that only covenants  with which
an enDty must comply on or before the reporDng date wi l l
affect a  l iabi l i ty's  class ificaDon as  current or non-
current and the disclosure requirement in the financial
statements  for the risk that non-current l iabi l iDes  with
covenant could become repayable within twelve months.

 

1 January 2024

Suppl ier F inance
Arrangements  (Amendments
to IAS 7 and IFRS 7)

The amendments  address  the disclosure requirements  to
enhance the transparency of suppl ier finance
arrangements  and their effects  on a company's  l iabi l i ties ,
cash flows and exposure to l iquidity risk.
 

1 January 2024

The  Di re ctors  e xpe ct tha t the  a dopti on of the  s ta nda rds  l i s te d a bove  wi l l  ha ve  e i the r no i mpa ct or tha t a ny i mpa ct
wi l l  not be  ma te ri a l  on the  Fi na nci a l  Sta te me nts  of the  Compa ny i n future  pe ri ods .
 

 
3.     Investment Income                                                                               

Year ended

30 September

2024

£'000

Year ended

30 September

2023

£'000

Revenue:   

UK Di vi de nd i ncome 306 591

Ove rs e a s  Di vi de nd i ncome 5,063 4,213

Total investment income allocated to revenue 5,369 4,804

 
                Al l  i nve s tme nt i ncome  i s  de ri ve d from l i s te d i nve s tme nts .
 

4.     Other Operating Income

Year ended

30 September

2024

£'000

Year ended

30 September

2023

£'000

Ba nk i nte re s t 122 104

Total other operating income 122 104

 
 

5.     Gains on Investments Held at Fair Value

Year ended

30 September

2024

£'000

Year ended

30 September

2023

£'000

Ne t ga i ns  on di s pos a l  of i nve s tme nts  a t hi s tori c cos t 48,604 33,182

Le s s  fa i r va l ue  a djus tme nts  i n e a rl i e r ye a rs (10,156) (14,297)

Gains based on carrying value at previous balance sheet date 38,448 18,885

Va l ua ti on ga i ns  on i nve s tme nts  he l d duri ng the  ye a r 24,792 689

63,240 19,574

 
6.     Other Currency Gains/(Losses)

Year ended

30 September

2024

£'000

Year ended

30 September

2023

£'000



£'000 £'000

Excha nge  ga i ns /(l os s e s ) on curre ncy ba l a nce s 281 (1,130)

 
7.     Investment Management Fee

Year ended

30 September

2024

£'000

Year ended

30 September

2023

£'000

Ma na ge me nt fe e

- cha rge d to re ve nue 687 650

- cha rge d to ca pi ta l 2,747 2,598

Investment management fee payable to Polar Capital LLP 3,434 3,248

 
        Management fees  are a l located 20% to revenue and 80% to capital . Detai ls  of the fee arrangements  are given in the
        Strategic Report above.

 
 

8.     Other Administrative Expenses

Year ended

30 September

2024

£'000

Year ended

30 September

2023

£'000

Di re ctors ' fe e s  a nd e xpe ns e s 1 150 143

Di re ctors ' NIC 16 14

Audi tors ' re mune ra ti on2: For a udi t of the  Compa ny Fi na nci a l
Sta te me nts

55 60

De pos i ta ry fe e 29 30

Re gi s tra r fe e 39 37

Cus tody a nd othe r ba nk cha rge s 65 42

UKLA a nd LSE l i s ti ng fe e s 3 53 40

Le ga l  & profe s s i ona l  fe e 7 5

AIC fe e s 21 21

Di re ctors ' a nd offi ce rs  l i a bi l i ty i ns ura nce 20 18

Corpora te  broke rs  fe e 25 25

Ma rke ti ng e xpe ns e s 4 111 47

Re s e a rch cos ts  - a l l oca te d to re ve nue 5 - 3

Sha re hol de r communi ca ti ons 24 17

HSBC a dmi ni s tra ti on fe e 215 208

Othe r e xpe ns e s 3 2

Total other administrative expenses allocated to revenue 833 712

Cos ts  re l a te d to re de mpti on of ZDP s ha re s  a nd l i qui da ti on of PCGH
ZDP pl c s ubs i di a ry

100 -

Re s e a rch cos t - a l l oca te d to ca pi ta l 5 - 13

Total other administrative expenses 933 725

 
1 Full disclosure is given in the Directors' Remuneration Report in the Annual Report.
2 2024 includes £nil (2023: £8,000) paid to the Auditors for the audit of PCGH ZDP Plc.
3 Reflects increased FCA and LSE fees incurred.
4 Includes bespoke marketing budget of £50,000 (2023: £15,500) and third party fees of £30,000 (2023: £nil).
5 Research costs payable by the Company amounted to £nil. (2023: £16,000 - 3 months to 31 December 2022). With effect from 1
January 2023, specialist research costs are absorbed by Polar Capital. These costs are allocated 20% to revenue and 80% to capital
and are included in the ongoing charges calculation.

 
O ngoing charges  represents  the total  expenses  of the fund, excluding finance costs  and tax, expressed as  a  percentage
of the average dai ly net asset value, in accordance with AIC guidance issued in May 2012.
 
The ongoing charges  raDo for the year ended 30 September 2024 was 0.88% (2023: 0.87%). See AlternaDve
Performance provided in the Annual  Report.

 
9.     Finance Costs

Year ended 30 September 2024 Year ended 30 September 2023

Revenue
return

Capital
return Total return

Revenue
return

Capital
return Total return

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000



Inte re s t on ove rdra fts 14 54 68 9 35 44

Appropri a ti on to ZDP s ha re s - 828 828 - 1,126 1,126

Total finance costs 14 882 896 9 1,161 1,170

 
10.   Taxation

 

Year ended
30 September 2024

Year ended
30 September 2023

Revenue
return

£'000

Capital

return

£'000

Total
return

£'000

Revenue
return

£'000

Capital
return

£'000

Total
return

£'000

a) Analysis of tax charge for the year:

Ove rs e a s  ta x 708 - 708 598 - 598

Indi a n ca pi ta l  ga i ns  ta x - 240 240 - 715 715

Total tax for the year (see note 10b) 708 240 948 598 715 1,313

b) Factors affecting tax charge for the year:

The  cha rge  for the  ye a r ca n be  re conci l e d to the  profi t pe r the  Sta te me nt of Compre he ns i ve  Income
a s  fol l ows :

Profit before tax 3,957 59,792 63,749 3,537 14,672 18,209

Ta x a t the  UK corpora ti on ta x ra te  of 25%
(2023: e ffe cti ve  ta x ra te  of 22%)

989 14,948 15,937 778 3,228 4,006

Ta x e ffe ct of non-ta xa bl e  di vi de nds (1,342) - (1,342) (1,057) - (1,057)

Ga i ns  on i nve s tme nts  tha t a re  not ta xa bl e - (15,879) (15,879) - (4,058) (4,058)

Non ta xa bl e  e xpe ns e s  not uti l l i s e d i n the
ye a r

353 699 1,052 279 582 861

Ove rs e a s  ta x s uffe re d 708 - 708 598 - 598

Indi a n ca pi ta l  ga i ns  ta x - 240 240 - 715 715

Expe ns e s  not a l l owa bl e - 232 232 - 248 248

Total tax for the year (see note 10a) 708 240 948 598 715 1,313

 
c) Fa ctors  tha t ma y a ffe ct future  ta x cha rge s :
The Company has  an unrecognised deferred tax asset of £8,364,000 (2023: £7,312,000). The deferred tax asset i s
based on the current corporation tax rate of 25% (2023: 25%).
 
I t i s  unl ikely that the Company wi l l  generate sufficient taxable profits  in the future to uDl ise these expenses  and
defici ts  and therefore no deferred tax asset has  been recognised.
 
Due to the Company's  tax status  as  an investment trust and the intenDon to conDnue meeDng the condiDons
required to obtain approval  of such status  in the foreseeable future, the Company has  not provided tax on any
capital  gains  aris ing on the revaluation or disposal  of investments  held by the Company.
 
The Company is  l iable to I ndian capital  gains  tax under SecDon 115 AD of the I ndian I ncome Tax Act 1961. A tax
provis ion on I ndian capital  gains  is  calculated based on the long term (securiDes  held more than one year) or
short term (securiDes  held less  than one year) nature of the investments  and the appl icable tax rate at the year
end. The current rates  from 23 July 2024 of short-term tax rates  are 20% (previous ly 15%) and the long term tax
rates  are 12.5% (previous ly 10%) respecDvely. At the year ended 30 September 2024, the Company has  a  deferred
tax l iabi l i ty of £ni l  (2023: £254,000) on capital  gains  which may arise i f Indian investments  are sold.

 
11.   Amounts Recognised as Distributions to Ordinary Shareholders in the Year

 
Dividends paid in the year ended 30 September 2024

Payment date No of shares Pence per share

Year ended
30 September 2024

£'000

29 Fe brua ry 2024 121,270,000 1.20p 1,455

30 Augus t 2024 121,270,000 1.20p 1,455

  2,910

 
The revenue avai lable for distribution by way of dividend for the year is  £3,249,000 (2023: £2,939,000).
 
The total  dividends payable in respect of the financial  year ended 30 September 2023 which is  the bas is  on which
the
requirements  of Section 1158 Corporation Tax Act 2010 are cons idered, i s  set out below:
 

Payment date No of shares Pence per share

Year ended
30 September 2024

£'000

30 Augus t 2024 121,270,000 1.20p 1,455



30 Augus t 2024 121,270,000 1.20p 1,455

28 Fe brua ry 2025 121,270,000 1.20p 1,455

2,910

 
Di vi de nds  pa i d i n the  ye a r e nde d 30 Se pte mbe r 2023

Payment date No of shares Pence per share

Year ended
30 September 2023

£'000

28 Fe brua ry 2023 121,270,000 1.10p 1,334

31 Augus t 2023 121,270,000 1.00p 1,213

2,547

 
The total  dividends payable in respect of the financial  year ended 30 September 2023, which is  the bas is  on which
the requirements  of Section 1158 Corporation Tax Act 2010 are cons idered, i s  set out below:
 

Payment date No of shares Pence per share

Year ended
30 September 2023

£'000

31 Augus t 2023 121,270,000 1.00p 1,213

29 Fe brua ry 2024 121,270,000 1.20p 1,455

2,668

Al l  dividends are paid as  interim dividends, and al l  have been charged to revenue, where necessary uDl is ing the
revenue reserves.
 
The dividends paid in February each year relate to a  dividend declared in respect of the previous  financial  year
but paid in the
current accounting year.
 

12.   Earnings per Ordinary Share

 

Year ended

30 September 2024

Year ended

30 September 2023

Revenue return Capital return Total return Revenue return Capital return Total return

The  ca l cul a ti on of ba s i c
e a rni ngs  pe r s ha re  i s  ba s e d
on the  fol l owi ng da ta :

Ne t profi t for the  ye a r (£'000) 3,249 59,552 62,801 2,939 13,957 16,896

We i ghte d a ve ra ge  Ordi na ry
s ha re s  i n i s s ue  duri ng the  ye a r

121,270,000 121,270,000 121,270,000 121,270,000 121,270,000 121,270,000

Basic - Ordinary shares (pence) 2.68 49.11 51.79 2.42 11.51 13.93

 
As  at 30 September 2024 there were no potentia l ly di lutive shares  in issue.
 

13.   Investments held at fair value
 
a)     Investments held at far value through profit or loss

 
 

30 September 2024
£'000

 
30 September 2023

£'000

Ope ni ng book cos t 438,965 401,521

Ope ni ng i nve s tme nt hol di ng ga i ns 19,290 32,898

Opening fair value 458,255 434,419

Analysis of transactions made during the year  

Purcha s e s  a t cos t 689,721 506,254

Sa l e s  proce e ds  re ce i ve d (737,080) (501,992)

Ga i ns  on i nve s tme nts  he l d a t fa i r va l ue 63,240 19,574

Closing fair value 474,136 458,255

Cl os i ng book cos t 440,211 438,965

Cl os i ng i nve s tme nt hol di ng ga i ns 33,925 19,290

Closing fair value 474,136 458,255
 

The Company received £737,080,000 (2023: £501,992,000) from disposal  of investments  in the year. The book cost
of these investments  when they were purchased were £688,475,000 (2023: £468,810,000). These investments  have
been revalued over Dme and unDl  they were sold, any unreal ised gains/(losses) were included in the fa ir value of
the investments .
 
The fol lowing transaction costs , including stamp duty and broker commiss ions  were incurred during the year:
 

30 September

2024

30 September

2023



 

2024

£'000

2023

£'000

On a cqui s i ti on 540 481

On di s pos a l 383 257

923 738

 
b)     Fair value hierarchy
 

 

30 September

2024

£'000

30 September

2023

£'000

Le ve l  1 a s s e ts 474,136 458,255

Valuation at the end of the year 474,136 458,255

 
Al l  Level  1 assets  are traded on a recognised Stock Exchange.
 
c)     Subsidiary undertaking

Company and business
Country of registration,
incorporation and operation

Number and class of shares held
by the Company Holding

PCGH ZDP Pl c Engl a nd a nd Wa l e s 50,000 Ordi na ry s ha re s  of £1 100%

 
Fol lowing the ful l  repayment of the ZD P  shareholders  on 19 June 2024, the subs idiary was  placed into l iquidaDon.
Refer to Note 1 for further detai ls .
 

14.   Called up Share Capital

Ordinary shares - Allotted, Called up and Fully paid:

30 September

2024

£'000

30 September

2023

£'000

Ordi na ry s ha re s  of nomi na l  va l ue  25p e a ch:

Ope ni ng ba l a nce  of 121,270,000 (2023: 121,270,000) 30,317 30,317

Allotted, Called up and Fully paid: 121,270,000 (2023: 121,270,000)
ordinary shares of 25p

30,317 30,317

2,879,256 (2023: 2,879,256) Ordi na ry s ha re s , he l d i n tre a s ury 720 720

At 30 September 2024 31,037 31,037

 
       No Ordinary shares  were repurchased or i ssued during the year (2023: ni l ).
 
       The Ordinary shares  held in treasury have no voting rights  and are not enti tled to dividends.

 
15.   Net Asset Value Per Ordinarily Share

Ordinary shares

30 September

2024

30 September

2023

Ne t a s s e ts  a ttri buta bl e  to Ordi na ry Sha re hol de rs  (£'000) 479,073 419,182

Ordi na ry s ha re s  i n i s s ue  a t e nd of ye a r 121,270,000 121,270,000

Ne t a s s e t va l ue  pe r Ordi na ry s ha re  (pe nce ) 395.05 345.66

Tota l  i s s ue d Ordi na ry s ha re s 124,149,256 124,149,256

Ordi na ry s ha re s  he l d i n tre a s ury 2,879,256 2,879,256

Ordi na ry s ha re s  i n i s s ue 121,270,000 121,270,000

 
As  at 30 September 2024 there were no potentia l ly di lutive shares  in issue.
 

16.   Cash and Cash Equivalents

30 September

2024

£'000

30 September

2023

£'000

Ca s h a t ba nk 9,552 4,630

Ba nk Ove rdra ft (374) (2,014)

Compa ny ca s h a nd ca s h e qui va l e nts 9,178 2,616

Ca s h he l d a t s ubs i di a ry - 50

 Ca s h a nd ca s h e qui va l e nts 9,178 2,666

 
17.   Transactions with the Investment Manager and Related Party Transactions

 



 
(a) Transactions with the Manager
Under the terms of an agreement dated 26 May 2010 the Company has  appointed Polar Capital  LLP  ("Polar
Capital") to provide investment management, accounDng, secretaria l  and administraDve services . Detai ls  of the
fee arrangement for these services  are given in the Strategic Report. The total  fees , paid under this  agreement to
Polar Capital  in respect of the year ended 30 September 2024 were £3,434,000 (2023: £3,248,000) of which
£288,000 (2023: £537,000) was  outstanding at the year-end.
 
I n addiDon, the total  research cost in respect of the year ended 30 September 2024 was £ni l  (2023: £16,000). As  at
the year end, £ni l  (2023: £ni l ) was  outstanding. From 1 January 2023 al l  research costs  are payable by Polar
Capital . Refer to note 8 above for more detai ls .
 
(b) Related party transactions
The Company has  no employees  and therefore no key management personnel  other than the Directors . The
Company paid
£150,000 (2023: £143,000) to the Directors  and the RemuneraDon Report including Directors ' shareholdings  and
movements  within the year is  set out within the ful l  Annual  Report.
 
Refer to note 13(c) for detai ls  of the subs idiary undertaking.
 

18.   Post Balance Sheet Events
There are no s ignificant events  that have occurred aPer the end of the reporDng period to the date of this  report
which require disclosure.
 
 
AGM
The Annual  Report and separate NoDce for the Annual  General  MeeDng wi l l  be posted to Shareholders  in December
2024 and is  avai lable from the Company Secretary at the Company's  Registered O ffice, (16 Palace Street London
SW 1E 5JD) or from the Company's  website. The AGM wi l l  be held at the Company's  Registered O ffice at 2:00pm on
13 February 2025.
 
FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS
Certain statements  included in this  Annual  Report and Financial  Statements  contain forward-looking informaDon
concerning the Company's  strategy, operaDons, financial  performance or condiDon, outlook, growth opportuniDes
or ci rcumstances  in the countries , sectors  or markets  in which the Company operates .
 
By their nature, forward-looking statements  involve uncertainty because they depend on future ci rcumstances, and
relate to events , not a l l  of which are within the Company's  control  or can be predicted by the Company.
 
Although the Company bel ieves  that the expectaDons reflected in such forward-looking statements  are reasonable,
no assurance can be given that such expectations  wi l l  prove to have been correct.
 
Actual  results  could differ materia l ly from those set out in the forward-looking statements . For a  detai led analys is
of the factors  that may affect our bus iness , financial  performance or results  of operaDons, we urge you to look at
the principal  risks  and uncertainDes  included in the Strategic Report SecDon the Annual  Report and Financial
Statements .
 
No part of this  Annual  Report consDtutes , or shal l  be taken to consDtute, an invitaDon or inducement to invest in
Polar Capital  Global  Healthcare Trust plc or any other enDty and must not be rel ied upon in any way in connecDon
with an investment decis ion. The Company undertakes  no obl igation to update any forward-looking statements .
 
Neither the contents  of the Company's  website nor the contents  of any website access ible from hyperl inks  on the
company's  website (or any other website) i s  incorporated into, or forms part of, this  announcement.
 

-END-
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	The Company's Annual General Meeting ("AGM") will be held at 16 Palace Street, London, SW1E 5JD at 2:00pm on Thursday, 13 February 2025. The notice of AGM has been provided to Shareholders and will also be available on the Company's website. Detailed explanations of the formal business and the resolutions to be proposed at the AGM are contained within the Shareholder Information in the Notice of AGM. We will once again upload a copy of the Manager's Investment Presentation (on or before 30 January 2025) to the Company's website ahead of the AGM to allow broader access, and as a result will only hold the formal business meeting in person. The Managers will be available at the AGM to answer questions and meet shareholders present.
	We have provided a zoom link in the Notice of AGM which will enable anyone interested to view the formal business and ask questions via the on-line chat function. All formal business resolutions will be voted on by a poll and we therefore encourage shareholders to submit their votes ahead of the meeting by proxy card which is provided with the Notice of Meeting.
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